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Corporate Information

ATER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Rong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as executive director on 13 July 2023,
chief executive officer on 20 September 2023 and chairman
on 23 November 2023)

Mr. Hu Xiongjie (resigned with effect from 13 July 2023)

Mr. Liang Shifeng (resigned with effect from 9 August 2023)

Mr. Lam Wing Hung (resigned with effect from 20 September 2023)

Mr. Zhu Shengmao (appointed on 20 July 2023 and resigned on
15 January 2024)

Mr. Cui Qingbo (appointed on 23 November 2023)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. So Chi Hang (resigned with effect from 20 July 2023)

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin (resigned with effect from 20 July 2023)
Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry (appointed on 20 July 2023)

Mr. Ma Jian (appointed on 20 July 2023)

Ms. Wang Qin (resigned with effect from 11 July 2023)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry (Chairman)
Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung
Mr. Ma Jian

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung (Chairperson)
Mr. Ma Jian

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry

Mr. Wang Rong

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wang Rong (Chairman)
Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung

Mr. Ma Jian

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry (Chairman)
Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin

COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Lam Wing Hung (resigned on 20 September 2023)
Mr. Au Pak Lun Patrick (resigned on 4 September 2023)
Mr. Chow Yun Cheung (appointed on 4 September 2023)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

(for the purpose of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”))

Mr. Lam Wing Hung (resigned on 13 July 2023)

Mr. Au Pak Lun Patrick (resigned on 4 September 2023)

Mr. Wang Rong (appointed on 13 July 2023)

Mr. Chow Yun Cheung (appointed on 4 September 2023)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

HSBC
1 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
1 Garden Road

Central

Hong Kong

China CITIC Bank International Limited
61-65 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1301, 13/F, Technology Plaza,
651 King’s Road, Hong Kong
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR R 8 ]
CL Partners CPA Limited S eMTAR A A

B EDIENR L EF 2 BB BT
SEESIRNBEP D
EIE32IE3203A5F

FERERNBFEETAE

Certified Public Accountants and Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
Unit 3203A-5, 32/F., Tower 2,

Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway,

Admiralty, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350
Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

PO Box 1350
Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER EEARMBFPERLTE

OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited

FERSFBLARLAA

17/F, Far East Finance Centre B8

16 Harcourt Road BRIE16%

Hong Kong BERERT L1718
COMPANY WEBSITE NECTF B
www.crosstec.com.hk www.crosstec.com.hk
PLACE OF LISTING & Thoith B4

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited BRBARHMERAT
STOCK CODE I 171X 5%

3893 3893
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Financial Highlights
b LS

Percentage
For the year ended 30 June Change
BEAA=THLEE BAL2E
2024 2023 Y%
HK$'000 HK$'000
TiH7R TR
Revenue WA 73,811 48,004 53.8%
Gross profit/(loss) E£7,/(38) 14,764 (11,418) N/AT i
Loss for the year EREE (13,044) (53,556) (75.6%)
Total Assets BRERE 63,613 59,469 7.0%
Capital Deficiency BREA (44,427) (54,097) (17.9%)
Key Financial Ratios TEHKLE
Gross profit margin EH® 20.0% N/AT
Net profit margin A= N/ATER N/AT 3 R
Return on equity EREF N/ATE A N/ATEA
Return on total assets BEERR N/AT i F N/A i
Current ratio BN X 0.74 0.81
Quick ratio R K 0.74 0.81
Gearing ratio BEAGBLE (1.88) (1.31)
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006 -

Profile of Directors and Company Secretary

EERAANERE

DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board currently consists of six Directors, comprising two executive
Directors, one non-executive director and three independent non-executive
Directors. The following sets out the information about the Directors and the
company secretary:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Rong (“Mr. Wang”), aged 41, was appointed as executive director,
chief executive officer and chairman on 13 July 2023, 20 September 2023
and 23 November 2023 respectively. Mr. Wang has extensive experience in
the finance and private equities sectors. From April 2012 to March 2014, he
served as the representative at Essence International Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited (Z{EBIRE % (B78) BR2A]), a licensed corporation to carry
out Type 1 regulated activity (dealing in securities) and Type 4 regulated
activity (advising on securities) under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). From April 2013 to February 2021,
Mr. Wang served as vice president at Fulbright Financial Group (Hong Kong)
Limited (222 RI&E (F%8) BB 2R F)), which provides financial services
to clients. From April 2021 to April 2023, he was a director of Zhong Zi Xin
Rong (Hainan) Private Equity Fund Management Co., Limited* (R & & &b (/F
M)ABEESEEBMRAR)and was responsible for strategic development
and investment and fund management. Mr. Wang also serves as the executive
director of Lapco Holdings Limited, a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8472), since May 2023. Mr. Wang obtained
a bachelor’ degree in finance, through distance learning, from Dongbei
University of Finance & Economics (BRILET4ERE) in July 2021.

Mr. Cui Qingbo (“Mr. Cui”), aged 50, was appointed as executive director
on 23 November 2023. He has extensive experience in the decoration
and engineering sectors. Prior to the joining of the Group, he served as the
chairman of Shenzhen Metropolitan Yijiazhuang Decoration and Design
Co., Ltd and Shenaiju (Shenzhen) Decoration Group Co., Ltd. from 2017 and
2020 respectively. Mr. Cui obtained a bachelor and master degree in business
administration from Panamerican University in 2014 and 2015 respectively.
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Profile of Directors and Company Secretary

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin (Z75E) (“Mr. Tsang”), aged 38, has been an independent
non-executive Director since 28 September 2021 and was re-designated
as non-executive director on 20 January 2023. He is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk Management
Committee. He is responsible for supervising, and providing independent
judgment to, the Board. Mr. Tsang is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong.
Mr. Tsang is currently a partner of Allbright Law (Hong Kong) Offices LLP and
Stevenson, Wong & Co., specialising in corporate finance and commercial
law.

Mr. Tsang was an independent non-executive director of Inno-Tech Holdings
Limited (“Inno-Tech”) (a company whose shares were listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange and delisted on 13 July 2021, stock code: 8202) from June
2019 to June 2020. Inno-Tech was a company incorporated in Bermuda
with limited liability and its principal activities were (i) provision of outdoor
advertising business through different advertising media network; (ii) television
advertising operation; (iii) the event management business; (iv) seafood
business; and (v) money lending business in Hong Kong. As disclosed in
the announcements of Inno-Tech dated 1 June 2020, 3 July 2020 and 11
September 2020, Inno-Tech received a letter from the Official Receiver’s
Officer dated 9 June 2020 which stated that Gram Capital Limited has filed
a winding-up petition to the High Court of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region against Inno-Tech for principal sum of
HK$195,000. On 9 September 2020, Inno-Tech was ordered to be wound
up by the High Court of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in HCCW
82/2020 and the Official Receiver was appointed as the provisional liquidator.
Mr. Tsang confirmed that he was not a party to such winding up petition and
is not aware of any actual or potential claim that has been or will be made
against him as a result thereof.

Mr. Tsang is currently served as:

(i) the joint company secretary and the authorized representative of
Mabpharm Limited (a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2181),

(ii) the joint company secretary and the authorized representative of
Sundy Service Group Co. Ltd. (a company whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 9608),

(i) the joint company secretary and the authorized representative of 1957
& Co. (Hospitality) Limited (a company whose shares are listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8495),

(iv)  the independent non-executive director of Skymission Group Holdings
Limited (a company whose shares are listed on Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code 1429), and

(v) the independent non-executive director of Zijing International
Financial Holdings Limited (a company whose shares are listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code 8340).
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Profile of Directors and Company Secretary

EERAANERE

He served as:

(i) the non-executive director of Summi (Group) Holdings Limited (a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 756) from 20 July 2022 to 29 September 2022,

(ii) the company secretary and the authorized representative of Mobile
Internet (China) Holdings Limited (a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and delisted on 14 August
2024, stock code: 1439) from 6 February 2020 to 5 February 2021,

(i) the company secretary of Moody Technology Holdings Limited (a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1400) from 29 January 2019 to 7 November
2019,

(iv)  the company secretary and the authorized representative of Sino
Energy International Holdings Group Limited (a company whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and delisted
on 16 December 2022, stock code: 1096) from 1 November 2018 to
19 July 2019,

(v) the non-executive director of China Regenerative Medicine
International Limited (a company whose shares are listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange, stock code 8158) from 30 January 2020 to 20
August 2024,

(vi)  the independent non-executive director of Sterling Group Holdings
Limited (a company whose shares are listed on Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code 1825) from 28 September 2021 to 26 June
2024, and

(vii)  the company secretary and the authorized representative of Sunshine
100 China Holdings Limited (a company whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2608) from 30
November 2019 to 30 September 2024.

Mr. Tsang obtained a bachelor degree in laws and a bachelor degree in
commerce in 2008 and subsequently a master degree in laws in 2010 from
the University of Melbourne, Australia. He also obtained the postgraduate
certificate in laws from the City University of Hong Kong in 2011. Mr. Tsang
was admitted as a solicitor in Australia in 2012 and in Hong Kong in 2013
respectively.
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Profile of Directors and Company Secretary

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, (“Mr. Tse”), aged 40, was appointed as
independent non-executive director on 20 July 2023. He is the Chairman of
the Audit Committee and Risk Management Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Tse has extensive
experience in accounting, auditing and finance fields. He was the chief
financial officer and company secretary of China Yuanbang Property Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the mainboard of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (Stock Code: BCD.SI) from April 2016 to May 2018.
He is the company secretary of Moody Technology Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1400), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
since November 2019 and the company secretary and chief financial officer
of Futian Holdings Limited (stock code: 8196), a company listed on the
GEM board of the Stock Exchange since June 2024. He also serves as the
independent non-executive director of China Environmental Technology And
Bioenergy Holdings Limited (stock code: 1237), a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange since September 2022 and the independent
non-executive director of Litian Pictures Holdings Limited (stock code: 9958),
a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange since August 2024.
Mr. Tse obtained a bachelor’s degree of Business Administration in Accounting
and Finance from The University of Hong Kong in 2007. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung (former name: Lee Yin Sheung) (“Ms. Lee”), aged 45,
was appointed as independent non-executive director on 20 January 2023.
Ms. Lee is the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee, and also a member
of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk Management
Committee. Ms. Lee has more than 20 years of working experience in
accounting. Ms. Lee is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. She holds a bachelor’s degree of Arts in Accountancy from the
University of Bolton.

Mr. Ma Jian (“Mr. Ma”), aged 39, was appointed as independent
non-executive director on 20 July 2023. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. He
has extensive experience in system development and communication
engineering. He also serves as the executive director of Sterling Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1825), a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange since March 2024. He is an engineer of Chongging Yunri
Information Technology Limited* (EE T E B 8 &M B R 22 7)) since January
2014 and is responsible for managing and delivery of telecommunication
engineering and network maintenance. Mr. Ma obtained a bachelor’s degree
in Communication Engineering (@2 L2) from Nanchang University (F8& X
£) in 2006.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chow Yun Cheung (“Mr. Chow"), aged 44. Mr. Chow is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chow obtained
a bachelor’s degree in business administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong and has over 20 years of experience in the related fields of
accounting, corporate finance and compliance.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEET Wk DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of bespoke and total interior
design solutions to the retail stores and property facilities of global brands,
which covers a wide range of services including millwork and furniture
provision, facade development and fabrication, interior solutions, design,
maintenance and project consultancy. The Group has been conducting its
business since 1999 and has been developing its business in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), Australia, US, Europe, Middle East and other
Asian countries.

For the year ended 30 June 2024 (the “Year”), the Group's revenue, gross
profit and net loss were approximately HK$73.8 million (2023: approximately
HK$48.0 million), approximately HK$14.8 million (2023: gross loss of
approximately HK$11.4 million) and approximately HK$13.0 million (2023:
approximately HK$53.6 million) respectively, representing an increase of
approximately 53.8%, a change from gross loss to gross profit and a decrease
of approximately 75.6% over the Year.

In order to stay competitive in the market, the management of the Company
has put resources and emphasized on developing the local business in the
PRC and Hong Kong, as well as exploring business in Australia, in the Year.
In addition to maintaining good business relationship with the existing large
brand customers, the Group has well established new business relationships
with certain internationally recognized brands and property owners for their
sizeable projects.

Also, the Group kept monitoring the expense structure and did implement cost
reduction exercise to reduce the operating costs to upkeep its competitiveness.

The reduction in the consolidated net loss of the Group for the Year is mainly
attributable to:

(@) the change from gross loss to gross profit due to the reversal of accrued
contract costs of approximately HK$5.8 million and the reversal of
expected loss on onerous contracts of approximately HK$6.4 million
during the Year;

(b)  the decrease in the impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$8.1 million during the Year;

(c) again on early termination of a lease of approximately HK$4.6 million
during the Year; and

(d) the decrease of administrative expenses of approximately HK$9.1
million during the Year.

2023/2024% % Annual Report

EHERE

FEEIENERTRRRTEEHRDERIEREEH
REBEARGEANE  HPRENRERERZ &
BAERLEEHRE BRFARRRE  ZARRIRA

Rit RENEBFA - AKBA-NNNFERRER
B U-EREEBRERETEARANE (HE]) &
M- XB B pREEBENER -

REE-_ZT-_NEA=+HIEE(XFE])
WA - EFIREEFES N A738EBEL(Z2-=
FHAB0RBAT)  N48EEAT(ZE-=F :F8
NNABERT) ROB0AEETL(ZEZ=F 1 4953.6
BEBL) 8 FFEEREAAEINGS3.8%  FREAE
Fl AREEBFERD475.6% °

AEHE

REBTERTN  ALRERENAERRARR B
ERRPENBANAGEL AR TRRMFRRES -
TEERERAANLRREPRIERFEBBE LN T
BETHREEARMN R RERERE AR RFHNEEH
# EBREHARER -

o AEEREERA AR LRTREKXANE
I BARE EERA - BAREHEESD o

AEERFEEZERFERALIERAR -

(@ AEEREZGANNALSAEATRERER
AHZRAERENAREBET  HEREAEM:

b  TEEDE BERR
%/%TE

R RERRRONBIA

© AFERSRAKIEEZREN4I6BEBET R

@ AERTHEAORSNIBEEET -



Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND OUTLOOK

Despite the uncertainties of the global situation, it is on the right track that the
Group is putting more effort to resume the PRC and overseas business as well
as strengthen the competitive advantage of the local business.

Geographically speaking, as the Group is dedicated to putting more resources
and efforts on exploring the business opportunities in relation to the interior
solutions projects in the PRC, Hong Kong and Australian market, very positive
results have been received recently. We have established numerous business
relationship with new clients who are internationally recognized brands and
property owners and we have also been working closely with them for their
expansion projects. Considering the huge development potential, we believe
that the Group’s business will be promising in the coming years.

Based on the high qualities of products and services provided by the Group,
the management of the Company is confident that long-term business
relationships will be built up and more projects will be undergoing in the near
future.

In addition to the core business, in order to broaden the income sources, the
Company has been exploring other business opportunities. In June 2024, the
Group was granted a license to reproduce, distribute and publish a licensed
game in the PRC for a term of five years and shall commence the gaming
business in the year ending 30 June 2025. Further, the Company is still
exploring the suitable business partner to co-operate in a form of strategic
co-operation alliance or other possible way of development. The Company
will keep the Shareholders updated and informed by way of announcement(s)
as and when appropriate.

Last but not least, the Group has been making efforts to solicit potential
acquisition targets which may have synergy with the existing business of the
Group for its ongoing strategic growth and such strategy remains unchanged in
the coming year.

REVIEW

Revenue

The Group generated revenue principally from providing four major
categories of sales and services, mainly including: (i) sales of millwork,
furniture and facade fabrication (2024: approximately HK$12.0 million;
2023: approximately HK$10.4 million), (ii) interior solutions services (2024:
approximately HK$61.4 million; 2023: approximately HK$34.2 million), (iii)
design and project consultancy services (2024: approximately HK$23,000;
2023: approximately HK$2.6 million) and (iv) maintenance services
(approximately HK$0.4 million; 2023: approximately HK$0.9 million).

Revenue of the Group increased by approximately 53.8% from approximately
HK$48.0 million in 2023 to approximately HK$73.8 million in 2024. The
increase in revenue was mainly due to the various new projects obtained in
the PRC, Hong Kong and Australia.
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Direct costs

Direct costs of the Group primarily consisted of costs of material,
subcontracting charges, labour costs, reversal of of accrued contract costs
and reversal of expected loss on onerous contracts. Direct costs decreased
by approximately 0.6% from approximately HK$59.4 million in 2023 to
approximately HK$59.0 million in 2024. It was mainly due to the reversal of
accrued contract costs of approximately HK$5.8 million and the reversal of
expected loss on onerous contracts of approximately HK$6.4 million during
the Year, which offset the increase of costs of material and subcontracting
charges due to increase in revenue during the Year.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group recognised accrued contract costs based on
progress of the projects and recognised provision for onerous contracts relating
to its obligation to complete an interior solution project and supply of millwork
and furniture to its customers. During the Year, certain relevant contracts were
terminated under mutual agreement with relevant parties, and reversal of
accrued contract costs and reversal of expected loss on onerous contracts were
recognised during the Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$14.8 million in the
Year with a gross profit margin of approximately 20.0% (2023: gross loss
of approximately HK$11.4 million). It was mainly due to the reversal of
accrued contract costs and the reversal of expected loss on onerous contracts
mentioned above.

Other gain, net

During the Year, the Group early terminated a lease in respect of an office
premise under mutual agreement with the landlord, therefore, among others,
the carrying value of lease liabilities in respect of future lease payments was
adjusted and a gain of approximately HK$4.6 million was recognised under
“other gain, net” in the consolidated financial statements.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of approximately HK$21.2 million in the Year (2023:
approximately HK$30.3 million) mainly consisted of operating expenses such
as employee benefits, marketing expenses and legal and professional fees. The
administrative expenses decreased during the Year when compared to that of
year ended 30 June 2023 was mainly because of tight cost controls adopted by
the Group during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Income tax expense

Income tax expense mainly represented current tax paid/payable for overseas
profits tax. There were no income tax expenses recorded during the Year
(2023: approximately HK$1,000).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax had been made as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the Year.

Income tax expense on assessable profits of overseas subsidiaries is calculated
at the rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group derived cash inflow mainly from (i) operating activities primarily
through provision of millwork and furniture, facade development and
fabrication, interior solutions services and design, maintenance and project
consultancy services; and (ii) financing activities such as borrowings and
equity fund raisings. Cash outflow from operating activities primarily
comprises direct costs, administrative expenses and other operating expenses.

As at 30 June 2024, the cash and bank balances amounted to approximately
HK$16.8 million (2023: approximately HK$31.0 million).

As at 30 June 2024, the Group did not have any bank facilities. As at 30 June
2023, the Group had a bank facility (the “Banking Facility”) of approximately
HK$6.2 million that has not been utilized and was available for drawdown.

In view of the Group’s current level of cash and bank balances, funds
generated internally from operations and the financing sources, the Board
believes the Group has sufficient resources to support its operations and meet
its foreseeable capital expenditures in the coming year.

During the Year, the Group completed the Rights Issue, the Capital reduction
and subdivision and the Placing, please see Notes 26(iii), (iv) and (v) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue were approximately HK$17,280,000
and the net proceeds were approximately HK$16,280,000 after deducting the
related expenses. The net proceeds of the Rights Issue were fully utilized as
intended and were used to repay part of the Group’s borrowings.

The gross proceeds from the Placing was approximately HK$6,740,000 and
the net proceeds (after deduction of placing fees and other expenses of the
Placing) from the Placing was approximately HK$6,520,000, representing a net
placing price of approximately HK$0.252 per placing share. The net proceeds
of the Placing were fully utilized as intended and were used for the payment of
subcontracting charges for the interior solutions projects of the Group.
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Borrowings and gearing ratio
As at 30 June 2024, the Group had other borrowings and shareholder’s loan of
approximately HK$53.5 million and HK$30.0 million respectively.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had other borrowings of approximately
HK$70.9 million.

The gearing ratios (calculated as other borrowings and shareholder’s loan
divided by total equity) were negative as at 30 June 2023 and 2024 as the
Group's equity was in deficit position as at these two dates.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s banking facilities are supported by the
corporate guarantees given by the Company and a subsidiary of the Company
and are secured by investment property amounted to approximately HK$7.9
million.

As at 30 June 2024, the Banking Facility has been terminated and the Group
did not have any banking facilities. The Group is in the process of releasing the
relevant guarantees and security under the Banking Facility.

Besides, as at 30 June 2024, a Company’s subsidiary (which holds a building
of approximately HK$6.3 million as at 30 June 2024) provided a corporate
guarantee to an independent lender in respect of a borrowing of HK$5.0
million.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2024 and 2023, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not have any significant investment held as at 30 June 2024 nor
any plans for material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

On 19 June 2024, the Group entered into a distribution agreement, pursuant
to which the licensor granted the Group an exclusive license to reproduce,
distribute and publish a licensed game in the PRC for a term of five years,
with a minimum guarantee of US$500,000. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 19 June 2024 for details.

During the Year, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associated companies or joint ventures by the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 August 2016 (the “Share
Option Scheme”). The Company had not granted any share options under the
Share Option Scheme up to 30 June 2024.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had 30 employees (2023: 41 employees). Total
employee benefits (including Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration)
were approximately HK$11.0 million (2023: approximately HK$19.5
million). The Group remunerates its employees based on their qualifications,
performance, experience and prevailing industry practice. Competitive
remuneration package is offered to retain elite employees, including salaries,
medical insurance, discretionary bonuses as well as mandatory provident fund
schemes for employees in Hong Kong. Apart from basic remuneration, share
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme to eligible employees
on the basis of their individual performance to attract and retain talents to
contribute the Group. In order to achieve a standard and quality production
of works and to develop individual’s potential, the Group’s employees are
encouraged to attend monthly sharing sessions, lectures and training courses
which related to the nature of their duties. In addition to internal trainings, the
Group also encourages employees to enroll in courses organised by external
organisations and institutes.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had no material capital commitment (2023:
Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adheres to prudent financial management principle to control and
minimise financial and operational risks. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk primarily through sales and purchases that are denominated in
Thai Baht, Singapore dollars, United States dollars, Renminbi (RMB), Euro
(EUR), Australian dollars (AUD) and Great Britain Pound. The management
of the Company is aware of the possible exchange rate exposure due to the
continuing fluctuation of RMB and AUD and will closely monitor its impact
on the performance of the Group to see if any hedging policy is necessary.
Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect to the foreign exchange
exposure.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

For the events after the reporting period, please refer to note 36 in this annual
report for details.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance.

Save as the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code (“Code Provision
C.2.1") as described, below, the Board considers that the Company has fully
complied, to the extent applicable and permissible, with the code provisions as
set out in the CG Code during the Year.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees the
Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and performance. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management
and operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established
four Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee
(together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the year ended 30 June 2024 and as at the date of this annual report,
the Board composition is set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Rong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as executive director on 13 July 2023,
chief executive officer on 20 September 2023 and
chairman on 23 November 2023)
Mr. Hu Xiongjie (resigned with effect from 13 July 2023)
Mr. Liang Shifeng (resigned with effect from 9 August 2023)
Mr. Lam Wing Hung (resigned with effect from 20 September 2023)
Mr. Zhu Shengmao (appointed on 20 July 2023 and resigned on 15 January
2024)
Mr. Cui Qingbo (appointed on 23 November 2023)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. So Chi Hang (resigned with effect from 20 July 2023)

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin (resigned with effect from 20 July 2023)
Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry (appointed on 20 July 2023)

Mr. Ma Jian (appointed on 20 July 2023)

Ms. Wang Qin (resigned with effect from 11 July 2023)

The profile of the current Directors is set out on pages 6 to 9 of this annual
report. All current board members do not have any family, financial, business
or other material/relevant relationship among themselves.

During the Year, the Company has been in compliance with the requirements
of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive directors with at least one
independent non-executive director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Year, the Company has also complied with the requirement of
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision C.2.1 requires the roles between the chairman and chief
executive officer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The chairman is responsible for the overall leadership and
strategic planning of the Group. The chief executive officer is responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business and operations.

Mr. Wang Rong (“Mr. Wang") assumes the roles of both the chairman of the
Board (the “Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive Officer”) since 23 November 2023. In view of Mr. Wang's
extensive experience in the industry, personal profile and critical role in the
Group, the Board considers that it is beneficial to the business prospects of
the Group that Mr. Wang continues to act as both the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer. The Board believes that vesting both the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person has the benefit of
providing a strong and consistent leadership to the Group and allows for more
effective planning and management of the Group. In addition, the Board is
of the view that the balanced composition of executive and the independent
non-executive Directors on the Board and the various committees of the Board
(primarily comprising independent non-executive Directors) in overseeing
different aspects of the Company’s affairs would provide adequate safeguards
to ensure a balance of power and authority. The Board will continue to
review and consider splitting the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole. The Company will continue to review
and enhance its corporate governance practice to ensure compliance with the
CG Code.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board intends to hold Board meetings regularly at least four times a year
at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days
will be given for all regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and propose matters to be discussed in the meeting
agenda.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice will
generally be given. The agenda and accompanying documents are dispatched
to the Directors or Board Committee members at least five days before the
meetings, the agreed period determined by the Board, to ensure that they have
sufficient time to review the documents and be adequately prepared for the
meetings.

When Directors or Board Committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity
to make their views known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes
of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are/will be recorded
in sufficient detail to include the matters considered by the Board and the
Board Committee and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meetings and Board Committee
meetings are/will be sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable
time after the date on which the meeting is held.

During the Year, the Board held fourteen meetings and passed resolutions by
way of written resolutions. The attendance of the Board members at the above
meetings is set out in the below section headed “Attendance at Board and
Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.

GENERAL MEETING

During the Year, one general meeting, being the 2023 Annual General
Meeting (“2023 AGM”) held on 15 December 2023. The attendance of the
Board members at the general meeting is set out in the below section headed
“Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings and General Meeting”.
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ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND BOARD

COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND GENERAL

MEETING

Attendance of each Director at all the Board meetings, Board Committee
meetings and general meetings held during the Year is set out as follows:

Name of Director

E3it4

=
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EZENESEZREERURRRAEH
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Risk

Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Management
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings Meeting
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2% ZBee4 Z28eed ZBded ZBded BRAS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Rong (Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer) (appointed as
executive director on 13 July 2023,
chief executive officer on 20 September
2023 and chairman on 23 November
2023)

Mr. Hu Xiongjie (resigned with effect from
13 July 2023)

Mr. Liang Shifeng (resigned with effect
from 9 August 2023)

Mr. Lam Wing Hung (resigned with effect
from 20 September 2023)

Mr. Zhu Shengmao (appointed on 20 July
2023 and resigned on 15 January 2024)

Mr. Cui Qingbo (appointed on 23
November 2023)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. So Chi Hang (resigned with effective
from 20 July 2023)

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin (resigned
with effective from 20 July 2023)

Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry (appointed on
20 July 2023)

Mr. Ma Jian (appointed on 20 July 2023)

Ms. Wang Qin (resigned with effect from
11 July 2023)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 22 August 2016 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the
CG Code. The Audit Committee currently has three members, all being
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry
(chairman of the Audit Committee), Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung and Mr. Ma
Jian. Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications required under the Listing Rules.

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review the interim
and annual results of the Company and to supervise the financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems of the Group and make
recommendations to the Board of the appointment and removal of the external
auditor as well as corporate governance related matters. The Audit Committee
has access to independent professional advice, if required, and is provided
with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Year. In addition to the
Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also dealt with matters by
way of written resolutions during the Year.

A summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year is
listed below:

e Discussed the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023
and 30 June 2024;

e Reviewed the Group’s annual financial results for the year ended 30 June
2024 and interim financial results for the six months ended 31 December
2023;

e Reviewed the documents and other matters or issues raised by the
Company’s auditor and considered re-appointment of the Company’s
auditor;

e Reviewed terms of engagement of an external consultant in relation to
the provision of internal audit services based upon the agreed procedures
on systems and controls of the Group and the internal controls at entity
level for the year ended 30 June 2024;

e Discussed the findings on the review of risk management and internal
control systems and the management’s response;

e Reviewed the internal audit planning memorandum for the year ended
30 June 2024; and

e Reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code during the
year ended 30 June 2024 and the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Company.

The details of changes in composition during the Year and the attendance of
the Audit Committee members at the above meetings is set out in the above
section headed “Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings and
General Meeting”.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 22 August
2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee has five members, three of whom are independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung (chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee), Mr. Ma Jian and Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, one
of whom is an executive Director, namely, Mr. Wang Rong and one of whom
is a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Tsang Ho Yin. The Remuneration
Committee has access to independent professional advice, if required, and is
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to determine the
policies in relation to human resources management, to review the Company’s
remuneration policies and to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages for Directors and senior management of the Company.

The remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to their
respective experience and responsibilities with the Group and the general
market conditions. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach
under code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code to make recommendations to
the Board on remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held six meeting during the Year, at which
the Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed of the existing policy
and structure of the remuneration for the Directors and senior management
of the Company, and considered and recommended to the Board on the
remuneration of the proposed director.

The details of changes in composition during the Year and the attendance of
the Remuneration Committee members at the above meeting is set out in the
above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings
and General Meeting”.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22 August 2016 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Nomination
Committee consists of five members, one of whom is an executive Director,
namely Mr. Wang Rong (chairman of the Nomination Committee), and three
of whom are independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lee Kwai
Sheung, Mr. Ma Jian and Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry, and one of whom
is non-executive Director, namely Mr. Tsang Ho Yin. The Nomination
Committee has access to independent professional advice, if required, and is
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and diversity (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the
Board on a regular basis and make recommendations to the Board regarding
candidates to fill vacancies on the Board. In assessing the Board composition,
the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects set out in
the board diversity policy of the Company adopted by the Board on 22 August
2016 (“Board Diversity Policy”).

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, there should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure
for selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans
in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical
review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment
of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation of
the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall
be his or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the effective
carrying out by the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set
out as follows:

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conducts;

(b) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c) serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the

Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for non-executive
Director) and other relevant Board Committee(s), if invited;
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bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board, giving
the Board and any committee on which he or she serves the benefit of
his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and qualifications
and diversity through attendance and participation in the Board/Board
Committee meetings;

scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate
goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance;

ensuring the Board Committees on which he or she serves to perform
their powers and functions conferred on them by the Board; and

conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may from
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the constitutional
documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or the Listing
Rules, where appropriate.

The Nomination Committee held five meeting during the Year, at which the
following work was performed:

Reviewed the composition, size and diversity of the Board;
Assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director;

Made recommendation to the Board on the re-election of the retiring
Directors at the 2023 AGM; and

Made recommendation of new Director candidate for the Board’s
approval.

The executive Directors were appointed based on their qualification and
experience in relation to the Group’s business. The independent non-executive
Directors were appointed based on their professional qualifications and
experience in their respective areas.

The details of changes in composition during the Year and the attendance of
the Nomination Committee members at the above meeting is set out in the
above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board Committee Meetings
and General Meeting”.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Risk Management Committee on 22 August
2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Risk Management Committee consists of three members, two of whom are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry
(chairman of the Risk Management Committee) and Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung,
and one of whom is a non-executive Director, namely Mr. Tsang Ho Yin. The
Risk Management Committee has access to independent professional advice, if
required, and is provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties.

The primary duties of the Risk Management Committee are to review the
Company’s risk management policies and standards and to monitor the
Company’s exposure to sanctions legal risks.

The Risk Management Committee held two meetings during the Year.
The meetings were held to review the compliance by the Group with its

undertakings to the Stock Exchange, further details of which are set out below:

e Reviewed, evaluated and confirmed the effectiveness of the internal
control policies and procedures with respect to sanctions legal matters;

e Reviewed and identified the Company’s risk exposure;
e Reviewed the reports of internal control and risk management systems;
e Reviewed the Company’s risk management policies and guidelines;

e Reviewed the internal audit planning memorandum for the year ended
30 June 2024; and

e Reviewed the disclosure in the corporate governance report for the year

ended 30 June 2024 relating to the compliance with risk management
and internal control code provisions of the CG Code.

2023/2024% % Annual Report
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The Company has undertaken to the Stock Exchange that it will comply with
certain undertakings that it will not use the proceeds from the Share Offer
as well as any other funds raised through the Stock Exchange, to finance or
facilitate, directly or indirectly, activities or business with, or for the benefit
of, any countries (“Sanctioned Countries”) which are the targets of economic
sanctions as administered by the US, the European Union (“EU”), the United
Nations and Australia or certain persons and entities listed on the Specially
Designated Nationals and Blocked Person List of the United States Department
of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) or other restricted
parties lists maintained by the EU, the United Nations or Australia, including,
without limitation, any government, individual or entity that is the subject of
any OFAC-administered sanctions (“Sanctioned Persons”).

As disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 30 August 2016 (the
“Prospectus”), the Board had developed its system on evaluating the sanctions
risks prior to determining whether the Company should embark on any
business opportunities in the Sanctioned Countries and with Sanctioned
Persons. Under the system, advices from reputable external international
legal counsels with necessary expertise and experience in matters relating to
sanction-related laws and regulations issued by the US, the EU, Australia or
the United Nations would be seek if the Company encounter any possible
sanctions risk. During the Year, the Risk Management Committee had
conducted a review of the system’s effectiveness in preventing any prohibited
or otherwise restricted sales to the Sanctioned Countries and the Sanctioned
Persons.

The details of changes in composition during the Year and the attendance
of the Risk Management Committee members at the above meetings is set
out in the above section headed “Attendance at Board and Board Committee
Meetings and General Meeting”.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 22 August 2016. The
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance the quality of its performance. A truly diverse Board will include and
make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences
will be taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit while taking into
account diversity (including but not limited to skills, professional experience,
educational background, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, age
and gender).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between meeting Shareholders’
expectations and prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend
policy. The Company’s dividend policy aims to allow Shareholders to
participate in the Company’s profit and for the Company to retain adequate
reserves for the Group’s future growth. In proposing any dividend payout,
the Company would consider various factors including but not limited to the
Group's overall results of operation, financial condition, expected working
capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position,
future expansions plans, the amount of retained profits and distributable
reserves of the Company, general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group's business, other internal or external factors that may have an impact on
the business or financial performance and position of the Group and any other
factors that the Board deems relevant.

Any declaration and payment of the dividends by the Company will be
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands,
the Company’s memorandum and the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”), the Listing Rules and any other applicable laws
and regulations. The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the past may
not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level of dividends that may
be declared or paid by the Company in the future. The dividend policy shall in
no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Group in respect of its
future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at
any time or from time to time.
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NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT, RETIREMENT
AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election and re-appointment at each annual
general meeting provided that each Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Any new Director so appointed to fill
a causal vacancy shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his or her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting. Any new Director, so appointed as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the Company
after his or her appointment and be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions of the
Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all Directors, all of them have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code during the Year.

The Group’s senior management who, because of their offices in the
Company are likely to possess inside information, have also been requested
to comply with the Model Code for securities transactions. No incident of
non-compliance with the Model Code by such employees was noted by the
Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS” CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. All Directors
are aware of their responsibilities to the Shareholders and have exercised
their duties with care, skill and diligence, in pursuit of the development of
the Group. The Company continuously updates the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory and
statutory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance
their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All Directors have confirmed that they have participated in continuous
professional development and provided a record of training they received for
the Year to the Company.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to CL Partners CPA Limited is
set out below:

R H R

Services Rendered

BB &

ARENREREHEHMITERARANMEATHIIW
T

Fee paid/payable for
the year ended

30 June 2024
BE_T_NF
NAZTRILFE
BN/ RN ER
(HK$'000)

(F#T)

Annual audit service for the year ended 30 June 2024

FEET RS

HE_Z-_NMF A=tHILFEZ

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare accounts
of the Group and other financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules
and the Company’s management will provide information and explanation to
the Board to enable it to make informed assessments of the financial and other
decisions.

The statement of the auditor of the Company in respect of its reporting
responsibilities on the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements
for the Year is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” contained in this
annual report.

INSURANCE ON DIRECTORS” AND OFFICERS’
LIABILITIES

The Company has arranged for liability insurance cover to indemnify the
Directors and the senior management of the Company.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board’s Responsibilities for the Risk

Management and Internal Control Systems

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and oversees such systems on an ongoing basis,
while ensuring a review of the effectiveness of these systems of the Group
is conducted at least annually through the Audit Committee. The scope of
such review covers all material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting functions are adequate. However, the Board recognizes that
no cost effective internal control and risk management systems will preclude
all errors and irregularities as such systems are designed to managing risks
rather than eliminating the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal

Control Systems

The internal control system and procedures of the Company are designed to
meet specific business needs and to minimize risk exposure. The Company
adopted different internal guidelines, along with written policies and
procedures to monitor and reduce the impact of risks which are relevant to the
Group’s business and control daily business operations.

During the Year, Pan-China Tax and Business Advisory Limited, an
independent consultant, had been engaged for an internal control and risk
management review, which was conducted under the approach adopted in
the “COSO 2013 Framework”. Management has established an enterprise risk
register, submitted an assessment report containing recommendations to the
Board and to enable the Board to effectively monitor the business risks and
understand how management responds and mitigates the risks.
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Process used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage

Significant Risks

The management of the Company is the ultimate risk management,
decision-making body. The Risk Management Committee is responsible for
deciding the risk level and risk appetite of the Group and considering the
Group’s risk management strategies and giving guidelines where appropriate. It
also has the responsibility of overseeing the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems on an outgoing basis and ensure that a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
has been conducted at least annually.

The Company has formulated an enterprise risk management process to
effectively manage the risks faced by the Company. The process clearly
defines four procedures for the Company’s management of risks, including
identification, assessment, monitoring and reporting.

In the event of risk identification, management communicates with the
operational functions and collects significant risk factors affecting the
Company from bottom to top. These risk factors are included as enterprise risk
register.

Management evaluates the risks in the register and prioritizes them for
follow-up actions according to their potential impact, occurrence opportunity
and sufficiency of current measures tackling the risks. The risk register is
reviewed at least once a year, new risks are added while existing risks are
removed, if necessary, after the assessment.

The changes are reported to the Board at a timely manner. This process can
effectively ensure that the Company takes the initiative to manage the risks
it faces and that all risk holders are aware of their liability so that they can
develop appropriate and effective measures in time to control the risks.
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Process used to Review the Effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to

Resolve Material Internal Control Defects

The Company has implemented an internal control system to minimize the
risks to which the Company is exposed to and used as a management tool for
day-to-day business operation. Review is conducted once a year.

The Company engaged an independent consultant, Pan-China Tax and
Business Advisory Limited, to carry out the analysis and independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 30 June 2024. The results of the
independent review and assessment were reported to the Board and Board
Committees.

Based on the review results for the Year, the management has made a
confirmation to the Board that the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems are effective and sufficient. The Board, through the Risk
Management Committee and the Audit Committee, had conducted review
on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024. The Board was satisfied with
the review results and considered the risk management and internal control
systems are effective and adequate, in particular, for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance. No significant areas of concern that might affect the
financial, operational, compliance controls, and risk management functions of
the Group were identified.

The Board will continue to review and improve the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems in accordance with the existing
regulatory requirements, the interests of Shareholders and the growth and
development of the Company’s business.

Procedures and Internal Controls for the Handling

and Dissemination of Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Group (i) carries out its daily operation
with regards to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued
by the Securities and Futures Commission; and (ii) closely communicate with
its legal advisor regarding whether the relevant information is likely to have
impact on the price of the Company’s shares or their trading volume and thus
is considered as inside information that needs to be disclosed pursuant to the
Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO and the Listing Rules.

To comply with the SFO, the Company has also developed internal control
mechanisms for handling and disseminating inside information, including
information flow and reporting processes, confidentiality arrangement,
disclosure procedures and staff trainings. In addition, whistleblowing policy
has been adopted. Accordingly, effective channels will be set up to encourage
employees to report incidents of alleged misconduct or fraud.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board has
reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of the view that in light
of the size, nature and complexity of the business of the Group, as opposed
to diverting resources to establish a separate internal audit department, it
would be more cost effective to appoint external independent professionals
to perform independent review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. Nevertheless, the
Board will continue to review at least annually the need for an internal audit
department.

TRAINING FOR COMPANY SECRETARY

The Board is of the view that Mr. Chow Yun Cheung, the Company Secretary,
is qualified and has appropriate experience to discharge his duties. Mr. Chow
Yun Cheung had received not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year. The Company will provide Mr. Chow Yun Cheung
with sufficient resources to receive not less than 15 hours of professional
training for every financial year as required by the Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on

requisition by the Shareholders

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, Shareholder(s) holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board. The written requisition must specify the business to be
transacted on the meeting, which shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition.

If within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the requisition, the Board fails
to proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting, the Shareholder(s)
concerned may themselves convene an extraordinary general meeting, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholder(s) making the requisition as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to such Shareholder(s) by
the Company.

Save for the procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting as set out above, there are no provisions allowing Shareholders to put
forward proposals at the general meeting under the Articles of Association.
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene an
extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such written
requisition. The written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and
must be signed by the relevant Shareholder(s) and deposited to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, Unit
1301, 13/F, Technology Plaza, 651 King’s Road, Hong Kong.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

Shareholder(s) may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing through the Company Secretary by post at Unit 1301, 13/F,
Technology Plaza, 651 King’s Road, Hong Kong, or via email at the contact
information as provided on the website of the Company.

The Company Secretary shall forward the Shareholder(s)’ enquiries and
concerns to the Board and/or relevant Board Committees, where appropriate,
to respond to the Shareholder(s)” questions.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective and proper investor relations play
a vital role in creating Shareholders’ value, enhancing the corporate
transparency as well as establishing market confidence. The Company
discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules, and publishes
periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with the
relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company is to ensure
information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate and complete, thereby enabling
Shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and informed
decisions. Updated key information and business development of the Group
are also available on the Company’s website to enable Shareholders and
investors to have timely access to information about the Group.

The Company also endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through general meetings which provides a
forum for Shareholders to raise comments and exchange views with the Board.
Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) will be available at the general
meetings of the Company to address Shareholders” queries.

The Company will continue to take measures to ensure effective Shareholders’
communication and transparency.
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The Directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication and provision
of interior design, project consultancy, maintenance and interior solutions
services. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries of the Company are
set out in note 1 to the audited consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the
Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A detailed review on the Group’s business performance and the material factors
underlying its financial position, as well as the development and likely future
prospects of the Group’s business are provided throughout this annual report and
in particular under the following separate sections:

(@)  review of the Company’s business and financial position, and development
and future prospects of the Company’s business are shown in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report;

(b)  details of key performance indicators are shown in the sections headed
“Financial Highlights” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this
annual report;

(c)  the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company are shown in the
section headed “Key Risks and Uncertainties” below;

(d)  the Group’s environmental policies and performance are shown in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” (the “ESG Report”) and
the section headed “Environmental Policies” below;

(e)  the Group’s key relationships with employees, customers and suppliers are
shown in the ESG Report and the section headed “Relationships with Key
Stakeholders” below; and

(fy  the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and regulations are shown

in the ESG Report and the section headed “Compliance with Laws and
Regulations” below.
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Report of the Directors

Details of important events occurring after the end of the Year to the date of this
annual report are set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of
this annual report.

The discussions referred to in the above form part of this Report of the Directors.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management and internal control.
The process by which the Group identifies and manages risk is set out in more
details in the corporate governance report of this annual report. The following
highlights some of the key risks affecting the Group's business:

The Group’s business is project-based. The types of projects we carry out
will vary and, in turn, our revenue mix may vary from time to time. Fee
collection and profit margin depend on the terms of the quotation and may
not be regular;

The duration of our projects varies and our clients do not have long term
commitments with us;

We depend on our suppliers and contractors to complete our projects and
to implement measures or procedures during the execution of our projects;

Our success is dependent on the retention of key management personnel;

Our business is dependent on the luxury goods sector and global
economic conditions; and

Luxury brands may reduce reliance on physical stores.

Please also refer to the note 33 to the audited consolidated financial statements
for the financial risks facing by the Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group fully understands that employees, clients, suppliers and
sub-contractors are the key to our sustainable and stable development. The
Group is committed to establishing a close relationship with its employees,
enhancing cooperation with our suppliers and sub-contractors and providing
high-quality services to our customers so as to ensure the Group's sustainable
development.

a) Employees

Human resources and talents are vital to the creative business of
the Group. The Group offers a comprehensive range and attractive
remuneration package, insurance benefits, training opportunities and clear
career path with promotion opportunities to its employees. The Group
also continues to improve and regularly review and update its policies on
remuneration and benefits, training, occupational safety and health. The
Group maintains a good relationship with its employees and the turnover
rate is low.

b) Clients
The majority of the Group’s clients are internationally recognized brands
and property owners. It is the Group’s mission to satisfy different clients’
needs.

The Group has also established procedures in handling clients” feedback
and complaints to ensure that clients’ opinions are dealt with in a prompt
and timely manner.

c) Suppliers and Sub-contractors
The Group generally do not enter into long term contracts with its suppliers
and its orders are placed on an as-needed basis depending on the project
schedule. The Group has established a long term and stable relationships
with its five largest suppliers and sub-contractors for years. Over the years,
the Group has been working closely with them and have maintained good
relationships.

In order to have a better and close monitoring of suppliers’ performance,
the Group’s management regularly conducts performance reviews
targeting the Group’s major suppliers and sub-contractors and
communicates with them for rectification and improvements.

Further discussions on the relationship with key stakeholders is set out in the ESG
Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporation
that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. The Group strives to
minimize its environmental impact by saving electricity and encouraging recycle
of office supplies and other materials. The Group believes that it is essential for it
to be as environmentally responsible as possible in the execution of its projects.
The fit-out construction services provided by its sub-contractors in Hong Kong are
subject to certain laws and regulations relating to environmental protection.

Further discussions on the environmental policies is set out in the ESG Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries
with projects located in various locations in Hong Kong, the PRC, and Australia
during the Year. The Group’s establishment and operations accordingly shall
comply with all applicable laws in the jurisdictions where it has operations. To
the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief on the date of this
annual report, the Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of
the Company.

Further discussions on the compliance with laws and regulations is set out in the
ESG Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs of the Group at that
date are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to
143 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the Year (2023:
Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 13 December 2024 (the
“2024 AGM"), the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 10 December 2024 to Friday, 13 December 2024, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/
F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 9 December 2024.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published financial results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the Year, together with summary of the financial results and of the
assets and liabilities of the Group for the four years ended 30 June 2023 is set
out on page 144 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment during the
Year are set out in note 13 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 30 June 2024 and as at the date of this annual report, the authorised share
capital of the Company was HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company with par value of HK$0.01 each. As at 30
June 2024 and as at the date of this annual report, the issued share capital was
HK$1,555,200 divided into 155,520,000 ordinary shares of the Company with
par value of HK$0.01 each.

As at 30 June 2023, the authorised share capital of the Company was
HK$100,000,000 divided into 250,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company
with par value of HK$0.4 each. As at 30 June 2023, the issued share capital was
HK$34,560,000 divided into 86,400,000 ordinary shares of the Company with
par value of HK$0.4 each.

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year are set out
in note 26 to the audited consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in notes
27 and 34(a) to the audited consolidated financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2024, there was no reserves available for distribution pursuant to
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s reserves available for
distribution shall be the sum of the Company’s share premium and accumulated
losses, which may be distributable provided that immediately following the date
on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a
position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary of business.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the place of incorporation of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, revenue derived from the Group's five largest clients accounted

for approximately 87.8% of the total revenue of the Group for the Year

revenue derived from the largest client for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$23.0 million, representing approximately 31.2% of the Group's total revenue
for the Year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 56.2% of the total costs for the Year and purchase from the largest
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supplier for the Year amounted to approximately HK$6.4 million, representing

approximately 10.8% of the Group’s total direct costs for the Year.

None of Directors, any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or

five largest suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable donations during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Rong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as executive director on 13 July 2023, chief executive officer
on 20 September 2023 and chairman on 23 November 2023)

Mr. Hu Xiongjie (resigned with effect from 13 July 2023)

Mr. Liang Shifeng (resigned with effect from 9 August 2023)

Mr. Lam Wing Hung (resigned with effect from 20 September 2023)

Mr. Zhu Shengmao (appointed on 20 July 2023 and resigned on
15 January 2024)

Mr. Cui Qingbo (appointed on 23 November 2023)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. So Chi Hang (resigned with effect from 20 July 2023)

Mr. Heng Ching Kuen Franklin (resigned with effect from 20 July 2023)
Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung

Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry (appointed on 20 July 2023)

Mr. Ma Jian (appointed on 20 July 2023)

Ms. Wang Qin (Resigned with effect from 11 July 2023)

In accordance with Articles of Association, Mr. Cui Qingbo, Mr. Tsang Ho

and Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung shall retire by rotation at the 2024 AGM. All of them,

being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against it Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them shall or
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in
or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty in their respective offices;
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud
or dishonesty which may attach to any of said persons.

Save for the above, at no time during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section
9 of the Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation (Chapter 622D of the Laws of
Hong Kong)) being in force for the benefit at any of the Directors (whether made
by the Company or otherwise) or any of the directors of an associated company
(if made by the Company).

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Details of the Directors’ profiles are set out in the section headed “Profile of
Directors and Company Secretary” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS” EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Directors emoluments are set out in note 8 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
FROM THE INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors written confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on such confirmations, the Company considers all of the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’” INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 24 and 29 to the audited consolidated financial
statements, there was no transaction, arrangements or contract of significance
to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or his or her connected
entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the Year or at any time during the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance had been entered into between the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholder(s) of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries at the end of the Year or at any time during the
Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in existence as at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2024, none of the Directors and/or chief executive of the Company
nor their associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would
have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which each
of them has taken or deemed to have taken under the SFO), or which would
be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
required to be kept therein or which would be required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS” AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 30 June 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company, the table below listed out the persons (other than
the Directors or chief executive of the Company), who had interests in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company pursuant to provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or as
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the SFO:

Long Position

TERRREMATREAR TR RAER
HHNERERAR

RZZ-MERAZTH RARAEZRAREEERN
RE TREIRARBRG RAEERDFREEREES
TEE EHIEXVEBE2LRE3D BIEXBRAR AR ESL
AERARRREESFRAEEAEIBRATFENE
BECMNEZOAL (FEEARAZELTETHRA
B)mT:

#R

Approximate

Number of shares percentage of

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest held/interest in shareholding
BE/HERER
PR B 1/ wltE B 17 2 B BARRE DL
|
MK Investment Group Limited ~ Beneficial Owner 24,700,000 15.88%
ERBAA 24,700,000 15.88%
Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, the Directors and the senior BREXPIREEIN RZZE-NESA=Z1+H ARAE

management of the Company are not aware of any other person who had an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time
during the Year was the Company or its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of acquisitions of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 August 2016, the Company adopted the Share Option Scheme, which
falls within the ambit of, and is subject to the regulations under Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective during the
period commencing on 12 September 2016 and ending on 11 September 2026,
being the date falling ten years from the date on which the Share Option Scheme
became unconditional. A summary of the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

1M

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees, to attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group, to provide additional incentive or rewards to employees (full-time
and part-time), directors, consultants, advisors, contractors, suppliers,
customers and shareholders of the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it may
think fit, grant any employee (full-time or part-time), director, contractor,
supplier, consultant, advisor, customer or shareholder of the Group options
to subscribe for such number of shares as it may determine in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme. The basis of eligibility of any
participant to the grant of any option shall be determined by the Board (or
as the case may be, the independent non-executive Directors) from time to
time on the basis of his or her contribution or potential contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 7 days inclusive
of the day on which such offer was made. The amount payable by the
grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance of the offer for the
grant of an option is HK$10.

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer
of grant of the share options to a grantee, there is no minimum period
required under the Share Option Scheme for the holding of a share option
before it can be exercised.

The exercise price of a share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by
the Board and notified to a participant and shall be at least the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share on the date of grant of the option.
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(6)  The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(@)

044 -

subject to sub-paragraph 6(b) and 6(c) below, the maximum number
of shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (excluding, for this purpose, shares issuable upon
exercise of options which have been granted but which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of all the shares of the Company in issue,
being 2,400,000,000 shares as at 12 September 2016, being the
date on which the shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (the
“General Scheme Limit”). Based on the number of shares in issue
on 12 September 2016, being the date on which the shares were
listed on the Stock Exchange, the General Scheme Limit of the Share
Option Scheme was 240,000,000 shares. The General Scheme Limit
was adjusted from 240,000,000 shares to 60,000,000 shares for
the effect of the share consolidation with effect from 24 November
2020. The General Mandate Limit was further adjusted from
60,000,000 shares to 6,000,000 shares for the effect of the share
consolidation with effect from 23 August 2022.

The General Scheme Limit may be refreshed at any time by
obtaining approval of the Shareholders in general meeting provided
that the total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of
approval of the refreshed limit. Options previously granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes of the Company) will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the refreshed 10% limit.

The Company may seek separate approval of the Shareholders in
general meeting for granting options beyond the General Scheme
Limit provided the options in excess of the General Scheme Limit
are granted only to grantees specifically identified by the Company
before such approval is sought.

The aggregate number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. No options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company
i this will result in such 30% limit being exceeded.
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(7)  The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of options granted to any participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Share Option Scheme, in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of such limit
must be separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such
grantee and his or her associates abstaining from voting.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine which
shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant subject to the provisions for early
termination thereof.

No options had been granted under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.
As such, the total number of shares available for issue upon exercise of the share
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme was 6,000,000 shares,
representing approximately 3.9% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of this annual report.

As at the date of this annual report, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme was approximately 2 years.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group undertaken in the
normal course of business are set out in note 29 to the audited consolidated
financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group had not entered into any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that are not exempted under Rule 14A.73 of
the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules throughout the Year and has continued to maintain
such float as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors and controlling shareholders of the Company nor their
respective associates were interested in any business which competes or is
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance for
enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted and committed to
the code provisions set out in the CG Code and has prepared the corporate
governance report, which is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report. The Board will continue to review and monitor
the practices of the Company with an aim to maintaining the highest standard of
corporate governance.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023 had
been audited by BDO Limited. The consolidated financial statements for the
Year have been audited by CL Partners CPA Limited, who will retire, and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2024 AGM. A resolution for
the re-appointment of CL Partners CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be
proposed at the 2024 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Rong
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 September 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

@L Partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CROSSTEC GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(ZESEEZERERAR)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CROSSTEC Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 54 to 143, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 3.1(b)(ii) in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$13,044,000 for the year ended 30 June 2024, and as of that date,
the Group had total shareholder’s loan and other borrowings amounted
to approximately HK$83,450,000 of which the current other borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$48,450,000. Also, the Group had net
current liabilities and capital deficiency of approximately HK$18,973,000
and HK$44,427,000 respectively. However, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$16,765,000. These conditions indicate that
a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect
of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern” section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Revenue recognition on contracts from interior

solutions projects
For the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group’s revenue from interior solutions
projects amounted to approximately HK$61,408,000.

The Group recognises revenue of contracts from interior solutions projects
over time using an input method based on the progress towards satisfaction of
the services, measured based on proportion of actual cost incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total cost. Accordingly, revenue
recognition involves a significant degree of judgement, with estimates being
made to assess the total costs and on progress towards complete satisfactions
of the contract.

We identified the revenue recognition on contracts from interior solutions
projects as a key audit matter due to the significant judgement exercised by the
management in determining the total costs and on progress towards complete
satisfactions of the contract.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Revenue recognition on contracts from interior

solutions projects (continued)
Our response:

Our key procedures in relation to management’s assessment for revenue
recognition on contracts from interior solutions projects included:

- Obtaining an understanding on how the management of the Group
recognises the revenue from the projects and how the budget contract
costs are determined;

- Checking the contract sum to the underlying contracts entered
into with the customers and other relevant correspondences and
supporting documents in respect of variations in contract works or price
adjustments, on a sample basis;

- Assessing the reasonableness of contract revenue recognised and the
stage of completion by reference to the actual cost incurred to date over
the budgeted costs on sample basis;

- Checking the budgeted costs to the underlying supporting documents
including but not limited to price quotation and contracts, on a sample
basis;

- Checking on a sample basis the progress billings and the actual costs
incurred on contract works to the underlying supporting documents
during the reporting period; and

- Checking financial budget for each on-going contract to assess whether
expected loss on contract was properly recognised as an expense
immediately.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Impairment assessment of contract assets

Contract assets represent the Group’s right to consideration for work
completed less progress billing as at the reporting date. As at 30 June 2024, the
carrying amount of contract assets amounted to HK$24,875,000 (net of loss
allowance HK$286,000), accounted for approximately 39% of the Group’s
total assets.

Significant management judgement is required to assess the impairment
loss allowance under expected credit loss model by simplified approach for
contract assets. Management performed detailed analysis taking into customers
ageing profile, credit history and historical payment pattern together with
forward looking information for the estimation of expected credits losses of
contract assets.

We have identified the impairment assessment of contract assets as a key audit
matter in view of the significance of their carrying amounts and involvement
of the management’s judgements and estimates, which may be subject to
management bias.

Our response:

Our key procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment on
contract assets included:

- Understanding the management’s process and control over assessment
of impairment loss allowance under expected credit loss model by
simplified approach for contract assets.

- Evaluating the methodologies, inputs used by the management to
estimate the impairment of contract assets and evaluated the techniques
and methodology under the expected credit loss model;

- Assessing the competency, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent external valuation expert by considering its qualification,
relevant experience and relationships with the Group; and

- Assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss allowance estimates
by examining the information used by management to form such
judgments, including testing the accuracy of the historical default data,
evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-looking information.

Other Matters

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2023 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unqualified
opinion with material uncertainty related to going concern paragraph on those
consolidated financial statements on 27 September 2023.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors of the Company
and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

. evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

. conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

. evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CL Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Wai Chi

Practising Certificate no. P07830

Hong Kong, 30 September 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and REBERHEM2ENRER
Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2024 HE-F-_NEA=1THIFE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E TET TET
Revenue BA 5 73,811 48,004
Direct costs ERMA (59,047) (59,422)
Gross profit/(loss) 7,/ (18) 14,764 (11,418)
Other income L ON 5 225 1,047
Decrease in fair value of investment property % & %1% 2 N &> 14 (1,230) (160)
Impairment losses on property, plantand ~ #1% - BERZBEARCREEEZ
equipment and right-of-use assets REER 13 (591) (8,738)
Impairment losses under expected credit ~ BEEEBBENT ZRESETFE
loss model, net (3,035) =
Other gain, net Hth st #8 5 7,236 369
Administrative expenses THREY (21,244) (30,329)
Finance costs RMEKAK 6 (9,169) (4,326)
Loss before income tax BR A8 BB 2 A S 18 7 (13,044) (53,555)
Income tax expense G IR X 10 - (1)
Loss for the year and attributable to FARKARKEEAELER
the owners of the Company (13,044) (53,556)
Other comprehensive expense A2 EH %
Item that may be reclassified HEWENSBEREMNER
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translating HONRBARAEELNEL 28
foreign operations (1,305) (466)
Other comprehensive expense FREMZERX
for the year (1,305) (466)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRARAAREEAEEZE
and attributable to the owners of the XA
Company (14,349) (54,022)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) ERREE (A1) 12 (9.74) (58.39)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2024
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2024 2023

Notes HK$f0(p HK$f00_()
B & FET FHAT
Non-current assets KRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Nx  BERR 13 6,271 -
Right-of-use assets EREEE 13 - -
Investment property ?ﬁﬁ%% 14 - 7,890
Intangible asset B EE 16 3,916 -
Deposits i 17 123 886
10,310 8,776
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables EWE 5 kB3R 17 11,462 19,496
Contract assets EHNEE 18 24,875 -
Income tax recoverable AR EFIE 201 201
Cash and cash equivalents RERFCEED 19 16,765 30,996
53,303 50,693
Total assets EEAH 63,613 59,469
Current liabilities nBAE
Trade and other payables ERE 5 REMFIR 20 20,710 20,251
Contract liabilities ANBE 21 2,578 6,782
Lease liabilities HEARE 15 538 2,372
Other borrowings Hifg & 22 48,450 25,474
Provisions i 23 - 7,941
72,276 62,820
Net current liabilities REBEETFE (18,973) (12,127)
Total assets less current liabilities EELAERRBER (8,663) (3,351)
Non-current liabilities FrBaE
Lease liabilities HEAR 15 764 4,534
Other borrowings HilEE 22 5,000 45,413
Shareholder’s loan BRRER 22 30,000 =
Provisions Rifs 23 - 799
35,764 50,746
Total liabilities BELE 108,040 113,566
NET LIABILITIES BEFE (44,427) (54,097)
Capital and reserves BERRE
Share capital R 26 1,555 34,560
Reserves &1 27 (45,982) (88,657)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY EARE4 (44,427) (54,097)
On behalf of the board of directors REESE
Mr. Wang Rong Mr. Tse Kwok Hing Henry
FHRELE WEELEE
Director Director
EZ EZ

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity RERZ2BX

For the year ended 30 June 2024 BFE_E_MENA=1THIFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
LN N
Share Share Merger  Exchange Capital - Accumulated
capital ~ premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total

(Note 27(i)  (Note 27(i))  (Note 27(if))  (Note 27(v)) ~ (Note 27(v)
RE ROEE  AWEE ERiEE  EAEE  ZHER

(Msk70))  (Wsbazai)  (MsrozGin)  (MER7av)  (ME27w) 5t

|

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000

T TEL THL TATL TEL THL TAL

Asat 1 July 2022 RZE--%#+f-H 28,800 62,663 5,329 761 1,580 (111,557) (12,424)
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (53556)  (53,56)

Other comprehensive expense for the year FAE 2 AR
Exchange differences on translating HNEHREELD

foreign operations EREE = = = (466) = = (466)
Total comprehensive expense for the year  FRZER X 2% - - - (466) - (53,556) (54022)
Issuance of shares, net of issuing expenses /TR  MREITHZ

(Note 26) (Hrit26) 5,760 - - - - - 5,760
Deemed contribution from a former RIEMRRLE (Wit2e)
shareholder (Note 24) - - - - 6,589 - 6,589
As at 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 RZBZZ£xAZ+HR
“B-ZEtR-A 34,560 62,603 5329 295 8,169 (165,113) (54,097)
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (13044)  (13,084)

Other comprehensive expense for the year FRE 12 AR
Exchange differences on translating MIRBAEELY

foreign operations i - - - (1,305) = = (1,305)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A2 ER XA = = = (1,305) = (13,044) (14,349)
Issuance of shares on rights issue (Note 26) HiRIE1TRM (H26) 17,280 = = S = = 17,280
Capital reduction and subdivision (Note 26) FRZ8IE R4 (Hi#26) (50,544) = = = = 50,544 =
Issuance of shares, net of issuing expenses  EATHR (A + MBEETHZ

(Note 26) (Hritz6) 259 6,480 - - - - 6,739
As at 30 June 2024 RZB-mERA=TH 1,555 69,143 5329 (1,010) 8169 (127,613) (44,427)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows RERERER
For the year ended 30 June 2024 B2 - FE-_ENA=FHIIFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
iz FET FHBT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REZDRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before income tax BRATEE A B (13,044) (53,555)
Adjustments for: HE
Bank interest income RITHSWA 5 (166) 91)
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEN S 6 - 136
Interest on other borrowings HiEER S 6 5,112 1,358
Interest on lease liabilities MEBEHNE 6 167 301
Interest on loan from a former shareholder ~ RIARE & F| & 6 - 2,531
Interest on shareholder’s loan BREZMFIE 6 3,890 -
Impairment losses on property, plant and n¥ - B RREAR
equipment and right-of-use assets EREREZRERRE 7 591 8,738
Impairment losses under expected credit RHREEBREET ZHE
loss model, net BREFE 7 3,035 =
(Reversal of)/provision of expected losson  EiBIEA 4 EEEE (BE) /
onerous contracts i 7 (6,366) 7,941
Reversal of accrued contract costs R Yoo 7 (5,760) -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEDE - Bls kb s
equipment 5 - (50)
Gain on lease modifications HE B e 5 - (140)
Gain on waive of trade payables HERMNE HRIE W 5 (2,006) -
Gain on early termination of lease AR IFHEE 2 ek 5 (4,645) -
Depreciation of property, plant and n¥k  BERREHE
equipment 13 494 71
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEERE 13 12 923
Decrease in fair value of investment BENELNTERD
property 14 1,230 160
Operating loss before working capital EELCHD A KERE
changes (17,456) (31,677)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other [EUE 5 R EMZTIERD /()
receivables 5,333 (3,789)
Increase in contract assets BHEERM (25,161) =
Increase in trade and other payables ERESREMFIREM 1,714 6,943
Decrease in contract liabilities ENEERD (4,204) (6,525)
Cash used in operations RERARS (39,774) (35,048)
Income tax paid BB - )
Net cash used in operating activities REEHMBAR S T8 (39,774) (35,050)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows REUERER(B)
(continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2024 BE-T-WENA=1THIFE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
i FET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REFDFBRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BRI H 8 166 91
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BB * BE k& (587) (1,914)
Purchases of intangible asset EREEMEE (3,916) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEN%  BERREFETER
plant and equipment - 50
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REEERRITEH - 2,000
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing ~ R&/EE (FTA) /FERLFE
activities (4,337) 227
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BEZBFERLAE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of new shares, BITHROEFTIE - IBRETHAY
net of issuing expenses 6,739 5,760
Proceeds from issuance of shares on H“REETROMEHE
rights issue 17,280 -
Proceeds from other borrowings HEfEEEHE 30 5,000 =
Repayment of bank borrowings EBRRITEE 30 - (8,000)
Repayment of other borrowings 1““@%?!171 B 30 (26,000) -
Proceeds from shareholder’s loan REEHFEHIE 30 30,000 -
Proceeds from loan from a former AR R B A FT{S R
shareholder 30 - 57,000
Repayment of loan from a former EEARRER
shareholder 30 = (3,000)
Repayment of principal portion of lease BEEEABZASHS
liabilities 30 (1,154) (6,402)
Repayment of interest portion of lease EEHEREZNESED
liabilities 30 (167) (301)
Interest paid ENHS 30 (503) (401)
Net cash generated from financing activities ~ BEEEEH %8 31,195 44,656
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASHAND  BR&RELZEW(RD)/
CASH EQUIVALENT EnFEE (12,916) 9,833
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash EXHRS KR EBNNTE
equivalents (1,315) (466)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ~ FHR&RBEEFEN
year 30,996 21,629
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EXRERRESEN:
AT END OF YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash BRI KR 16,765 30,996
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 18 March 2016, as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
address of the registered office is located at Windward 3, Regatta Office
Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The
headquarter and principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at
Unit 1301, 13/F, Technology Plaza, 651 King’s Road, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively as the
“Group”) are trading of millwork, furniture and facade fabrication and
provision of interior design, project consultancy, maintenance and
interior solutions services. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to nearest thousands
(HK$'000) unless otherwise stated.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued) 1. —REHE)
Information about principal subsidiaries FRATENBAANESN
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: KRR FEMBARMNFENT :
Place and date of Percentage of equity attributable to Issued and fully paid
incorporation and form of the Company ordinary share capital or Principal activities and principal place
Name of entity business structure ARAEGRERDL registered capital of business
AR EYEE BEAREREBRER
EBLR HERBRET 204 2023 A AR IREBRIRERNY
Direct ~ Indirect Direct  Indirect

ER B BR B
A

Crosstec Group Limited Hong Kong, 10 May 2007, - 100% - 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$100,000  Investment holding, Hong Kong
limited liability company
HREAERLE  FE TR 100,000 7 £ &% RE#R 8%
EATE ARAT
Crosstec International ~ Hong Kong, 17 May 2007, - 100% - 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$100,000  Trading of millwork, furniture and facade
Limited limited liability company fabrication and provision of interior

design, project consultancy, maintenance
and interiors solutions services, Hong

Kong
HEERARAA  BA ZFELE 100,000/ 7 &Kk EEA RS GRNRFEREN Rzt
AR ARAA ERKE BRKN  RERZAKR
RES U RE
Crosstec Design and Hong Kong, 22 January 2019, - 100% - 100% Ordinary shares of HK$1 Provision of interiors solutions services,
Engineering Limited limited liability company Hong Kong
{Formerly known as C2
Concept Limited)
HEXHIRARLY R _F-NF IRTEBR RUEZARRRRS B
(MRREZARS  —A-tR ARAA
BRAR)
Crosstec Business Hong Kong, 21 April 1999, - 100% - 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$100,000  Provision of labour and management
Management Limited ~ limited liability company services, Hong Kong
PEBFERARLE  FE -AANE 1000007870 & @Kk RUSDNRERRS Bk

BAZt-R ERAR
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued) 1. —RER@A)
Information about principal subsidiaries (continued) FRTEMBRARANEHR (4 *)
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued) ARAIFEMBARMNFENT : ()
Place and date of Percentage of equity attributable to Issued and fully paid
incorporation and form of the Company ordinary share capital or Principal activities and principal place
Name of entity business structure ARARERER AL registered capital of business
BB EE BEARBREBRREL
EE4R HREBRER 204 203 AEMER TREBRIRERAE
Direct  Indirect Direct  Indirect

ER B BR R
|

Crosstec Trading People’s Republic of China - 100% - 100% Registered capital of Trading of millworks and furniture, PRC
(Shenzhen) Company ("PRC") 4 December 2009, HK$50,000,000
Limited limited liability company
REREH(RN)  FEARAAE(RE) 50,000,000 AR EEARRRGR 7
BRAT “ERAET-ARA
BRAT
Crosstec (Shenzhen) PRC, 5 December 2017, - 100% - 100% Registered capital of Renminbi  Furniture and facade fabrication and
Contracting Company ~ limited liability company (“RMB") 50,000,000 provision of interior design, project
Limited consultancy and interiors solutions
services, PRC
58 (RI) Kb Gl Rt 2 ARE(TARR])5000000070 HENEBRRENRERE ARG -
IRERAT tZRER - BRAAF ifEA RRAARZREASER - PE
CX (Macau) Limited Macau, 17 December 2013, - 100% - 100% Registered capital of Macao Trading of millwork, fumiture and facade
limited liability company Patacas ("MOP") 25,000 fabrication and provision of interior

design, project consultancy and interiors
solutions services, Macau

TAR(RF)-A  BFCF-=F 25,0002F5% (T2F9% ) EEAER  GENRBREREREE
ARLH TZATLE ARAR AR ERR RERAREARRIR
R - A
Crosstec Design Hong Kong, 3 October 2016, - 100% - 100%  Ordinary shares of HK$100,000  Provision of interior design services, Hong
Consultants Limited limited Iiability company Kong
Sl BRARRA  BA ZF-AF 100,000/ 7 &% RUEARG RS BA

tA=R ERAH
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

Information about principal subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place and date of

incorporation and form of
Name of entity business structure

G EBEE
ERAR HREBRER

Indirect

B

Percentage of equity attributable to
the Company
ARARERER AL

2023

Direct

BR

Indirect

R

1. —RER@A)
FRTENBARANESN (&)
ARATEMBARGHENT : (4)

Issued and fully paid
ordinary share capital or
registered capital

BEARGRERRRA
ERA-E

Principal activities and principal place
of business

IRERBRIREENE

Crosstec Network Hong Kong, 2 May 2019,
Technology Limited limited liability company
FRBENRERAR  BE —Z-NFRACH
BRAH
Trinity Facade Hong Kong, 5 September 2018,
Sustainability limited liability company
Technology Limited
FoRRRUREMR  FR CE-\FAARA
BRAR BRAR
EAEEHK(EM)  PRC 18 December 2023, limited
BRAR liability company
AN (M) HE —E-ZFTCATIE -
BRAR BRAH
Taixing Group Limited Hong Kong, 10 July 2023,
limited liability company
Taixing Group Limited &/ ZE-=F+A+H
BRAT
Taixing Creative Design Hong Kong, 30 October 2023,
Limited limited liability company

FRAZHHERLA  FR CEoZECACTR:
ARAR

Taixing Innerwest Pty Ltd ~ Australia, 14 November 2023,
limited liability company

Taixing Innerwest Py Lid & - —2==%1-A
THR FRAA

062 -——
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100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Ordinary shares of HK$1
AT EBR

Ordinary shares of HKS1

BT EER

Registered capital of Renminbi
(‘RMB") 2,500,000

AR¥2,500 00070 E A

Ordinary shares of HK$10,000

10,000 T E A

Ordinary shares of HK$10,000

10,0008 70 & %

AUS10 divided into 10 shares of
AUST each

10E1 2 A10%&
BRAEIRTORS

Provision of facade management services,
Hong Kong
RUBREERS B8

Investment holding, Hong Kong

RERR Bk

Integrated game operations, PRC
GoklizE H
Investment holding, Hong Kong
RERR 8%

Provision of interior design, project
consultancy and interiors solutions
services, Hong Kong

RHEARG  BRRARERBANR
B &k

Provision of interior design, project
consultancy and interiors solutions
services, Australia

RUEEARG  BRRARERRAN R
R 2
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERFITRKBIEEHERELER

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (TEEMBREER )
STANDARD (“HKFRSs”)
(a) New and amendments to HKFRSs that are (@) RMAFEBEERNIHTREST
mandatorily effective for the current year BRMKREER
In the current year, the Group has applied the following new RAFE  AREERERA TaEBE
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of MAg((FEGHAAE]) BHLNARE
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which E-Z-=5+tA—ARRNEEHEAES
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning SR RE R BAM RS LA - A
on 1 July 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial RRESMBRE
statements:
HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts BEMBREEN  RBAH
October 2020 and FU7H(BE_Z
February 2022 Amendments “ZETARZE
to HKFRS 17) “ZHRZAZER
MBmEER
F17H 2 BT
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting BRI LRSS HEMHESR
Estimates ZIER]
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and ERGHEUNFNY REE-EIHZ
Liabilities arising from a Single &3] EERBREYZ
Transaction HERETHE
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar BEGERES BERBBERE-
Two model Rules ZIEFT XEZRABE
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies BEEHEASZIRR SHBRIBE
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 BERBREER
ERBAELR
ZIER]
Except as described below, the application of the new and BT XAt &SN - RAFEE M REE
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material AIEBRBREEAGARERFE RBHE
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the FENUBRARERR IR EHAUH
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these BERAENRESALEEATE -
consolidated financial statements.
Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS BREREERE IR REEYFHEE
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies AIEHEBHE2H 2 BFT [ @it BE L KE
V&
The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in AEERKAFEERERZEE - BHE
the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements ATEREIR [MERRZIIAERE
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant ABGREM | —ARKAALR T ESHK
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy R —ANBRE - MERERUBRRAL
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when tER—HZE  SHBRERTUSER
considered together with other information included in an entity’s HEPERMARBRROTIZEAEREZ
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence EMBREAELOART  BZEHHEE
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial HEEX

statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARD (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(a)

064 -——

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
(continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to
material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy
information, such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set out
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. In accordance
with the guidance set out in the amendments, accounting policy
information that is standardised information, or information that
only duplicates or summarises the requirements of the HKFRSs,
is considered immaterial accounting policy information and is
no longer disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements so as not to obscure the material accounting policy
information disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERFIREETEEHBREER
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (ERMBHREER]) (&)
STANDARD (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
(b) New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue (b) CEMEEREXNHTREEET
but not yet effective BERUMHREER
The Group has not early applied the following new and FEEYERFERAATERMERRER
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet HEEPESCHES S s Er
effective:
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification BHEMBREER EMIANRRAIE
(Amendments) and Measurement of Financial LORRBEGT 2B
Instruments* RRIE7.2 BT
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BERUBREEN REEEABENT
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FI0EREEG HEGEREZEN
Associate or Joint Venture' ATERIE28F 2 ﬁ?ﬁﬁiﬁ%{]
EH
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and ERMBRELEL ERAORFHP A
Leaseback? F165 2 187] E8E
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in BERUBREEN MBBRR2IR
Financial Statement® #1885 wE
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public BEMBRERER FRHAXTEML
Accountability Disclosures® £195% WEBAR : RE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BREHENE IR BARIEAREK
Current or Non current and Z1EE] #muﬁb%&%xﬁ@
related amendments to Hong BEs%R (2%
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)? ) 2 BRERT
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with BERSHENE IS WELEERDA
Covenants? Z1EF] 15?2
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements? ERETEAETR REFRELTH
and HKFRS 7 REAYBRE
ERIF75 BT
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability® BRGHENEN BB
2 EET
HK Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial BEREBEE UK #Fi zji 9 31 B-
Statements — Classification by (E3TMR) BEFRERER
the Borrower of a Term Loan E’\JE%@EW\%*‘W\
that Contains a Repayment on P
Demand Clause®
l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be L RERFERBRz RRROFEBRAEN -
determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 2 RZZB-PFE-A-BRZ&RRNFEH
R -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. g RZBE-ZRF-A- AR ERBOFES
R -
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. g RZBZRE-A-BENERARNOFES
R -
B Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. : KRB+ F-A-BENERARNOFES
AR -

ARAEZEE - BAMBM REETEEMG
FEEANTERA ARGV BRRENEX
;2 X

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all of the
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(a)

066 -——

Basis of preparation of consolidated

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of measurement and going concern

assumption

(i) Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for investment
property which is measured at fair value. The measurement
bases are fully described in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

(i) Going concern assumption

The Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$13,044,000 for the year ended 30 June 2024, and as of
that date, the Group had total shareholder's loan and other
borrowings amounted to approximately HK$83,450,000,
of which the current other borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$48,450,000. Also, the Group had net
current liabilities and capital deficiency of approximately
HK$18,973,000 and HK$44,427,000 respectively.
However, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$16,765,000. These conditions indicate
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption (continued)

(ii)

Coing concern assumption (continued)

In assessing the appropriateness of the use of the going
concern basis in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, the directors of the Company have
prepared a cash flow forecast covering a period up to
December 2025. The directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and the Group’s available
sources of financing in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going
concern. The following considerations have been taken into
account in the cash flow forecast:

- The Group has reached a consent with the relevant
lender, in respect of outstanding other borrowings
with a total nominal amount of HK$50,000,000
as at 30 June 2024 and, on 23 September 2024,
the lender has agreed to extend the borrowings of
HK$20,000,000 and HK$30,000,000 originally
which due on 27 October 2024 and 20 November
2024, respectively for 18 months with an annual
interest rate being increased from 2% to 15%;

- The Group has a total facility line granted by its
shareholder of HK$30,000,000 based on the facility
letter dated 8 August 2023. As at the approval date
of these consolidated financial statements, the Group
has drawn down all the loan facility amounted to
HK$30,000,000 as at 30 June 2024; and further
obtained a HK$10,000,000 facility line from the
shareholder; and

- The Group will continue its efforts to enhance its
operation to improve its cash flow from operations to
strengthen its working capital.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 31 SA4BMBRRNGHEEEREASH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL Bz%ﬁﬂ(ﬁﬁ)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(continued)

(b) Basis of measurement and going concern b) HEEERKELERR(A)

assumption (continued)

(ii)  Going concern assumption (continued) (if)
Notwithstanding the above, a material uncertainty exists
related to the above conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as going concern,
and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
Whether the Group would be able to continue as a going
concern depends upon the Group’s ability to generate
adequate financing and operating cash flows through (a)
depending on the validity of the facility guaranteed by the
shareholder; and (b) generating operating cash flows based
on its forecasted revenue. The directors of the Company are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to
reduce the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their net
realisable amounts, to provide for liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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(c) Material accounting policy information (0 EXRBHHRER
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial FRRBRRBEARARARAMEHE
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the BLEMBARNSKRE - EHAUTE
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the B IR KR AR RIEIG R -
Company:
e has power over the investee; o HEZHRRED
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involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. .
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(c)

Material accounting policy information
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share
of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The
results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 31 SZ4BMBRENFEREEREASH
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL Bz%ﬁﬂ(ﬁ;)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment e NE -BRERZE

0/0 -

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building element
and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets

less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using

the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual

values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of

each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis. The principal annual rates

are as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the respective
lease terms or 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 25%

Office equipment 2010 33.3%

Motor vehicles 30%

Building 10%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(f)

Investment property

Investment property is property held either to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Investment property is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change therein recognised in
profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
investment property is included in profit or loss for the period in
which it arises.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property, calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.

If there is a transfer from investment property carried at fair value
to owner-occupied property evidenced by the commencement
of owner occupation, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent
accounting shall be its fair value at the date of change in use.

Lease

(i) Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(g) Lease (continued)
(i) The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

J any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

J an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(g) Lease (continued)
(i) The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use asset (continued)
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liability

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

J Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

U Variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

. Amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

. The exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

J Payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(g) Lease (continued)
(i) The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liability (continued)
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

Lease modifications
the Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(g)

(h)

Lease (continued)

(i) The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modifications (continued)
The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

(iii) ~ The Group as a lessor
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All of the
Group’s leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense
on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h) Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

(i)

076 -

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

All of the Group’s financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, deposits, contract
assets and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and
retention receivables, and contract assets.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h)
(i)

0/8

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

U existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties; or

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a
deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h)
(i)

080 -

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h) Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amounts, with the exception of trade
receivables, other receivables and contract assets where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a Group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
other borrowings and shareholder’s loan are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h)

082 -

Financial instruments (continued)

(iii)  Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group's investments.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange
rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

2023/2024% % Annual Report

3.1

GRUBBRRNEREEREAET
BRER (&)

(h)

SRMIAE)
(i) ERARERRATAE)
RILER

EEXASENEECRMEE  THR
W ARETRIEBRRERAR -
mﬁ%%%ﬂﬁ1$@ﬁﬁﬂﬁ&ﬁ
NRENER RESER

o

REREENEEEROMBREE U
ERVEERNUNNEE (M) ETHNRS
BRI HBENERERMER - RREHK -
MONEHERM ERIER R AMEREX
BHAE - DONESHEL A A FESIRRE 3
ERERERBEATEE BNERERXE

HMRE - DOMNEE L RAGH EMIFE IR B
FTEHBE -

RESHERRENBRESHRAAMELD
EXEBREL SR BRER Rk
FERTESN ISR B M0EE S Z BRI -
HEBE SRR IR AT (RUE
REBNEBFREN—82)  LNFRE
2 ERARTERARREERBHLER
EERERBRREN N EERE

REFGRHMBRAME - AEEENEK
MEERABERS RS HRORTELS
BERAKENZF SR (BNET) « RARH
XRBRERTYERBE - BRIFLHREN
EXAERD  BEZBRATRARZ S
MWERGE - FELHESZE (AR
At 2 ERARR LN BT HER#ER
it e



3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(j)

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service that
is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same. Control is transferred over time and
revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance
obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

1) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

2)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

3)  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to
the contract, control of the goods or service are transferred by the
Group to customers at a point in time or over time.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(j) Revenue recognition (continued)
Performance obligations for contracts with customers

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

084 -

Sales of products

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time
upon delivery of the millwork and furniture, and facade
fabrication.

Income from interior solutions projects

The Group provides interior solutions projects services to
customers. Such services are recognised as a performance
obligation satisfied over time as the Group creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created or enhanced. Revenue is recognised from the
contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of performance obligation at the end of the
reporting period, measured using the input method based
on the proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs for satisfaction of the services.

Maintenance service income

The Group provides maintenance services to customers.
Such services are recognised as a performance obligation
satisfied over time as the Group creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. Revenue is recognised from the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
performance obligation at the end of the reporting period,
measured using the input method based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total
costs for satisfaction of the maintenance services.

Design and project consultancy service income

The Group provides design and project consultancy
services to customers. Such services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time as the services
provided are exclusively tailored for customers with
no alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date. Revenue is recognised from the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the design
and project consultancy services as stipulated in the
contract at the end of the reporting period.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(j)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset is recognised over the period in which the
services are performed representing the Group's right to
consideration for the services performed because the rights are
conditioned on the Group’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones. The contract assets are transferred to trade
debtors when the rights become unconditional.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(k)

086 -

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(k)

Taxation (continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
property that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amount of such property is presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment property over time, rather than through sale,
except for freehold land, which is always presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related
to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(N

088 -

Provisions and contingent liability

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash
flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events,
are also disclosed as contingent liability unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised
and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered
to exist where the Group has a contract under which the
unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract
exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the
contract. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least
net cost of existing from the contract, which is the lower of the net
cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from
failure to fulfil it.

When assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making, the
Group includes costs that relate directly to the contract, consisting
of both the incremental costs and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling contracts.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(N

Provisions and contingent liability

(continued)

Restoration provisions

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their original
condition, as required by the terms and conditions of the lease,
are recognised at the date of inception of the lease at the
directors’ best estimate of the expenditure that would be required
to restore the assets, Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted
as appropriate for new circumstances.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an obligation,
the part of the obligation that is expected to be met by other
parties is treated as a contingent liability and it is not recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits has become probable.
If it becomes probable that an outflow of future economic
benefits will be required for an item previously dealt with as a
contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances
where no reliable estimate can be made.

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited

31 &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
n\/T\

SRR

SUBBRNEREEREASH

BEEH (&)

BRERIREEHE)

REHERERREHNAE  RREEER
REERIARENKARE LN BERK A
Hﬂ?é%ﬂ%fﬁéﬂﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁﬁ%ﬁHj

2o it DE BEAALAHERMELEE
;ﬂﬁﬁl o

B EEE B B RO ABE A (B
HREB B EEA RN ERAEAE
FHBETATIFFER) -

EREBALXRARERARE—EEE %R
AETPRERmS— T AENE D IRIELA
AEEE  YTERNGAMBRRARER -

$‘§Iﬁﬁ**"1ﬁz%’éfawiﬁ BICER

GRERTEREEKATE - WESERH
—BAAEAIABREENERMEARR
AT AR AR BB R RS AR

AUMBRERNBERESE  RILRFERER
ﬂﬁ*ﬁ%ﬂfﬁﬂs;ﬁg °

—-- 0889



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

»/T\ = /\7J ﬁﬁ #&% Bﬁ

3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(m

090 -

) Impairment of non-financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible asset with finite useful lives to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have suffered an
impairment loss or an impairment loss previously recognised no
longer exists or may have decreased.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units
to which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(m) Impairment of non-financial assets

(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares
the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately in profit or loss.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset, discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset or cash generating unit.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(n) Employee benefits

(i)

092 ~——

Retirement benefit costs

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme. There are no provisions
under the MPF Scheme whereby forfeited contributions
may be used to reduce future contributions.

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the Group participates in a local municipal government
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Scheme”),
whereby the subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC are
required to contribute certain percentages of the basic
salaries of its employees to the Retirement Scheme to fund
their retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations of
all existing and future retired employees of the subsidiaries
of the Company in the PRC. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the Retirement Scheme is to pay
the ongoing required contributions under the Retirement
Scheme. Contributions under the Retirement Scheme
are charged to profit or loss as incurred. There are no
provisions under the Retirement Scheme whereby forfeited
contributions may be used to reduce future contributions.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operates outside Hong Kong are required to participate
in pension schemes. The Company is required to make
contributions for these employees, pursuant to the local
regulations. The contributions are charged to profit or loss,
as they become payable in accordance with the respective
rules of the pension schemes.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(n) Employee benefits (continued)
(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised when they
accrue to employees. In particular, a provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of reporting period.
Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time
of leave.

(iii) ~ Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

(o) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised where there is a
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government
grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or
loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate and are presented separately
from the costs.

(p) Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(q) Cash and cash equivalents

094 ——

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks which are not restricted as to use.

Intangible asset acquired separately

Intangible asset with finite useful lives that is acquired separately
is carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible asset
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over
its estimated useful lives of over 5 years. The estimated useful
life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.
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3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 31 SA4BMBRRNGHEEEREASH

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL Bz%ﬁﬂ(zﬁ)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
(s) Related parties (continued) (s) EA®E (&)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following b) S TIMEM GRS - AIEBEAE
conditions apply: Bl AR
() The entity and the Group are members of the same () FEREAASEEF-SEN
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and KERE (MEFRA - KB
fellow subsidiary is related to the others). @?&ﬁ%fﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
g ) °
(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) —HEEAZ-BENPEEQ
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a A%AENE (REBAKER
member of a group of which the other entity is a AR R AN AL AT
member). F-ERRZEENKER
a) o
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third (iiy MEZTEEABR-F=FNA
party. NG
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy —REEARX-_F-1EEN
other entity is an associate of the third entity. aERE Ma— KBRS
ZHERNBELRE -
(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the v ZEBRAKEIEARES
benefit of the employees of either the Group or an BB EsERRNMRD
entity related to the Group. BB BN E
(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) FZERBIQEMHAINALE
person identified in (a). EEEE W%J 0
(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (vii)  R@)()BEF ﬁk?}”ﬂ'])\iﬂm,a
over the entity or is a member of key management BREAY 5=7‘J _EEME
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). gﬁz%‘%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ RAMEE
e
(viii) The entity, or any member of a group is a part, (vii) ZERIEEEEMETER
provides key management personnel services to the RERRAASESIFEE
Group or to the parent of the Group. ARREFZEBABRE -
Close family members of an individual are those family K- ATHif %ﬁ%%@i%%?ﬁﬁ%ﬁ?
members who may be expected to influence, or be B SBRMYEZELATRRZ
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity ATFENREKE  BE:
and include:
()  that person’s children and spouse or domestic ) ZAALHFRREBIFE
partner; Bt
(iy  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; (i)  ZBAALHEBXREBHEN
and FL R
(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or (i) ZAALTHZBALTHERER
domestic partner. REBHOZE -
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, BT X IR BERN T 2
services or obligations between reporting entity and a B RESETER  20F
related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. SBETUEAE o
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EEEHHBRMAEFTHPEEZE
ERR

3.2 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 3.2
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions

ERAAKBNEHIRE  ARRAEEENTH

mm, R RREMEERABNKREEELH
Bl RBRE o EZWS;#WHWMWE%E&

BREEAARBNEORZRL - BRER

are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered BRINZF R -
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing ZEMF REBRRIEHFELER - HEathE

basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in BT - MEFTEPEETET0BR - AlE

which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in AEE e ERDRER  AMEITYEEER

the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both ARERE - AIEETHE AR BREER -

current and future periods.

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting (@) EREFTRRBNEEHNEK
policies
The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving ATAEAREZRERALAGHBRA
estimates (see below), that the directors of the Company have BHMEL AHEE M RRARANEE
made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting ARATENBR A (T aREY R bt
policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts (BTX)) -

recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

SEEELEAE

Going concern consideration

096 -——

The assessment of the going concern assumption involves making
a judgement by the directors of the Company, at a particular point
of the time, about the future outcome of events or conditions
which are inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company
consider that the Group has the capability to continue as a going
concern assumption is set out in Note 3.1(b)(ii).

Revenue recognition on contracts from interior solutions projects
The Group recognises revenue of contracts from interior solutions
projects over time using an input method based on the progress
towards satisfaction of the services, measured based on proportion
of actual cost incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total cost. Accordingly, revenue recognition involves
a significant degree of judgement, with estimates being made
to assess the total costs and on progress towards complete
satisfactions of the contract. The actual outcomes in terms of total
cost or revenue may be higher or lower than the estimates, which
may affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as an
adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.
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3.2 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(a)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
pohues(tonﬂnued)

Deferred taxation on investment property

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment property that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
investment property and concluded that the Group’s investment
property is not held under a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the investment property over time. Therefore, in determining
the deferred taxation on investment property, the directors of the
Company have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment property measured using the fair value
model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The
Group has not recognised any deferred tax on changes in fair
value of investment property as the Group is not subject to any
income taxes on the fair value changes of the investment property
on disposal.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these

consolidated financial statements, other key sources of estimation
uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
next financial year are as follows.

Provision for onerous contract

The Group assesses whether there are onerous contracts in
which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the
contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received
under it at the end of the reporting period. The unavoidable costs
are estimated based on the most recent budget costs of fulfilling a
contract including but not limited to the costs of direct labour and
materials. For more information in relation to the provision for
onerous contract, please refer to Note 23(ii) to the consolidated
financial statements.

Impairment of trade and retention receivables, and contract assets
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL
in respect of trade and retention receivables, and contract assets
and assess for significant balance individually and remaining
balance on a collective basis. The ECL rates are based on
the Group’s historical default rates (taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort). At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered.

For more information in relation to the impairment of the trade
and retention receivables and contract assets, please refer to
Notes 17, 18 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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3.2 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b)

T REREZEERE (&)

098 -

(continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets at the end of the reporting period. The property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets
were tested at cash-generating unit (“CGU") level. Management
judgement is required in the area of asset impairment particularly
in assessing: (i) whether the carrying amount of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal or value in use; and (ii) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are discounted
using an appropriate rate, estimated revenue of the first projection
period based on the unfulfilled and potential sales contracts,
growth rate of estimated revenue and profit margin.

Changes in assumptions in impairment assessments across the
years could materially affect the value in use in the impairment
assessment and as a result affect the Group’s financial position
and results of operations.

For more information in relation to the impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, please refer to Note
13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value of investment property

The Group measures investment property at fair value. Certain
assets included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
also require disclosure of fair value. Significant estimation and
judgement are required to determine the fair value.

The fair value measurement utilises market observable inputs and
data as far as possible.

For more information in relation to the fair value measurement

of the investment property, please refer to Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments

The Group is principally engaged in the trading of millwork, furniture
and facade fabrication and provision of interior design, project
consultancy, maintenance and interior solutions services. Information
reported to the Group’s chief operating decision makers, for the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment, focuses on the
operating results of the Group as a whole, as the Group’s resources are
integrated and no discrete operating segment financial information is
available. Accordingly, no operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

The following table sets out the information about the geographical
location of the Group’s revenue from external customers and
non-current assets other than financial instruments (“Specified
non-current assets”).

The Group comprises the following main geographical segments:

(@) Revenue from external customers by
locations of customers

an\ 7f ﬁ%#&% ﬁ

FPEH

gE5 4

AEETENFEEAS D REAREBRRENR
REEAR  BE RN REREARASER
B RARERKIERE  MAKEFELER
RERENEREREINFAEERB EEE
B RASENERGE—BUEBULED UG
B oAl WERZFLLENHBER -

HEE R
TREFBBAEERANBELRAZ BT
ZERDRR SR T ENMIERDEE (e n
HEE]) -

FEEZTERRABEHMT :

() REFHELEEIZRANMEE
FRyBA

2024 2023

Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (M)

Australia BN

Japan BAE

Monaco Eing

People’s Republic of China (“PRC") mEARAME (THE])
(excluding Hong Kong) (TBEEE)

Thailand RH

United Kingdom B

United States (“US”) B ([=E])

Vietnam HE

Others ity

(b) Specified non-current assets by locations of
assets

HK$'000 HK$’000
FHEL FAT
32,296 12,462

3,644 -
- 12

- 2,233
37,871 24,913
- 622

- 6,449

- 784

- 204

- 325
41,515 35,542
73,811 48,004

b REEMELEHIZEEHER
gE

2024 2023

Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (M)
PRC il

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited

HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT
6,271 7,890
3,916 -
10,187 7,890
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. RHER(E)
Geographical information (continued) wEER (&)
(c) Information about major customers 0 FEEFEHR
Revenue attributed from customers that accounted for 10% or REA - REMEREELRA10%HKIA LK
more of the Group's total revenue during the year is as follows: ZPHBADMT
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER T
Client A EFA 23,008 —**
Client B ZFB 22,412 —x*
Client C EPC 9,444 e
Client D ZFD —x 10,099
Client E EFE = 6,054
Client F ZPF —x 6,053
Client G EFG —* 5,137
Total @Er 54,864 27,343
* Revenue from relevant customer was less than 10% of the Group’s total * KREEBEEZ AT EFRFLL RS
revenue for the reporting period. BUA DR10% o
* Nil revenue of the customers for the respective reporting period. ** TEFERE 2 ZEU AN BT
In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by primary WAREEMIENETE TEEZRR
geographical markets of customers, major products and service BREBAR W AR BT DR TE o
lines and timing of revenue recognition.
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers BEAMWAZ
Sales of millwork Sales of facade Interior solutions Maintenance Design and project
and furniture fabrication projects services consultancy services Total
HEARRRER  HERREE  EARRSRAR RERE% Rt REEFARE it

2024 2023 204 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 202 2 2024 2023

HK§'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
Thn Thn TEn Thn TEr Thn TEr TEn TEr TEn TEr  TEn

Primary geographical markets ~ XPHE Ei 55

of customers

- Hong Kong - & T4 651 - - 24766 10052 366 565 B 119 3229 12462

- Austraia - - - - - 36M - - - - - 36 -

- Japan - B& - = - = - = - 12 - = - 12

- Monaco - B - 1038 - 575 - 4w - - - 26 -

- PRC (excluding Hong -

Kong) (TBEEE) 487 55 - - 32998 23,605 - - 954 37871 4913

- Thailand - %8 -0 - - - - - - - - -0

- United Kingdom - KR - 643 - - - - - 13 - - - 649

-US - %8 - 6% - - - - - - - 86 - T8

- Vietnam - i@ - 38 - - - - - - - 166 -

- Others - Hfh - 162 - - - - - - - 163 - 305
Total &3t 12,014 9,800 - 55 61408 34171 366 869 B3 2589 73811 48004
Timing of revenue recognition WA B

under HKFRS 15 (REEAHBHE

BRI 155)
- Atapoint in time - RERS 12,014 9,800 - 575 - - - - - - 12014 10375
- Over time - BB-BRH - - - - 61408 34171 366 869 B 2589 61797 37,629

12014 9,800 - 575 61,408 34171 366 869 23 2589 73811 48,004

1 U U @ o 2023/2024% % Annual Report
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND OTHER 5 WAEMBRAREMKEEE

GAIN, NET
Revenue includes the net invoiced value of goods sold, design and

project consultancy services and maintenance services rendered and
contract revenue earned from the interior solutions projects by the

WABREASEREE R - RRUR RIRA HAR
BURRERBE 2 ERFEURZRBATRER
FIBMROBRA - CERRZERRAINBAZES

Group. The amounts of each significant category of revenue recognised

FlT

are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$/000 HK$'000
FET FET
Time of revenue recognition WA TR 2 B
Revenue — at a point in time WA — A 35 B T
Sales of products HEEM
— Millwork and furniture - R REE 12,014 9,800
— Facade fabrication - RRRE - 575
Revenue — over time WA - RiB— BRI
Income from interior solutions projects ENBALEER KA 61,408 34,171
Maintenance service income RERBEIWA 366 869
Design and project consultancy service income &t 218 B # #RB KA 23 2,589
73,811 48,004
An analysis of the Group’s other income and other gain, net, recognised FEEERRBNHEMBARE K FEN DT
is as follows: ™
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET
Other income Hetrl A
Bank interest income fﬁﬂﬂ/u”ﬁl)\ 166 91
Management income BUYA - 316
Government subsidies (Note i) ﬁfﬁﬁﬁ (Biiti) - 248
Rental income HERA 24 204
Others Aftr 35 188
225 1,047
Other gain, net Hot 25 F 8
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  H&E¥% - BE R & E 2 Wm - 50
Gain on lease modifications HEEYRz W \ - 140
Gain on early termination of lease (Note ii) TRANR \EFE 2 W gk (B i) 4,645 -
Gain on waive of trade payables (Note iii) RPN E B 50R 2 W (A itii) 2,006 -
Exchange gain, net R Gk 585 179
7,236 369

Notes:

Hit -

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2023, the HKSAR Government has launched
the “Employment Support Scheme” to provide time-limited financial support
to eligible employers to retain their employees due to the adverse situation of
COVID-19 in Hong Kong (2024: Nil).

(ii) During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group has early terminated the lease
of office premises. The Group is not obligated to settle the remaining lease
liabilities of HK$4,561,000 to the lessor with the deposit paid of HK$715,000
to be forfeited and provision for restoration of HK$799,000 has been reversed.

(iii)  During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group has reached a consent with

suppliers for waiving the payables for certain construction projects .

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited

() BE-F-—FXA=1HIFE  BERITRE
BFERY [RAZ/51E  FHEERELEATE
BEOFHRLE LY ETEEEHH20198MFE
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(i) R ENA= fﬂlﬁif ZTEFLIEEHK
UTAFHAZYE - FEBGERLTNG G TH
EEE4561,00087T n?f Eft& 715000 T8
WLl e ER 7990008 T8 #ABE -
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6. FINANCE COSTS

b.

MERA

Note
Bt &
Interest on bank borrowings RITEE M S
Interest on other borrowings HinfEEmRS
Interest on shareholder's loan BEREZMWF S
Interest on lease liabilities BESEONE
Interest on loan from a former shareholder AR R SR EF 2 (i)
Note: Vi

(i)

The amount represented the interest expenses to a former shareholder of

approximately HK$Nil (2023: HK$1,205,000) to CGH (BVI) Limited (“CGH”),
the company owned as to 50% by each of Mr Lee Wai Sang and Ms Leung
Mo shan who ceased to be the directors of the Company with effect from 13
December 2022 and HK$Nil (2023: HK$1,326,000) related to other borrowings.

7. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

The Group’s loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting):

(i)

HK$’000 HI%&’OO_O
FAET ST
- 136

5,112 1,358
3,890 -
167 301

- 2,531

9,169 4,326

FRERZTTFAIRECGH (BVI) Limited ([CGH)

A EET (ZF == :1,205000871) 2 FEH
T OHRAHEEEALERER G EERE
50% MEER-FE-—F+-A1T=HETHAE
ARAEE - FHEEET (ZEZ=4F - 1,326,000%
T HEEMEERR

REFSBAIER
FEBZBAGHABRR NG/ GHA)

2024 2023

HK$/000 HKS$/000
TET TET
(Reversal of) provision of expected loss on FREA N AHEE (D) &G
onerous contracts (included in direct costs) (BRERKE)
(Note 23(ii)) (/1/9‘593 i) . (6,366) 7,941
Reversal of accrued contract costs (included in 25 & Ak AEE (5 AEBRA)
direct costs) (Note a) W ) (5,760) -
Depreciation (Note 13): ﬁ%(ﬁ/f&'l}) .
— Owned property, plant and equipment - BENZE BER&HE 494 71
- Right-of-use assets - EREEE 12 923
Auditor’s remuneration RE A % . 580 670
Impairment losses under expected credit ATEBABAREBRRYT
oss model, net in respect of: REEREE
— Trade receivables — Bl 5EE 2,438 =
— Retention receivables - BURES 311 -
— Contract assets - SHEE 286 -
Short-term leases expenses SHHERY 162 481
Gross rental income from investment property ~ RERENXZHSMALE (24) (204)
Less: Direct operating expenses arising from V= ﬁWEE%ﬁﬁ”ﬁU\Z&ﬁ%%E@
investment property that generated BERBERX
rental income during the year 24 37
Net rental income HEWAFE - (167)
Employee benefit expenses (including directors’ S EFIFAX (BAESZ R
and chief executive’s remuneration) (Note 8):  FE2THABMS) (#1:78) :
Wages and salaries TEREGMH 8,685 16,735
Post-employment benefits — contribution to BRI — RE HURNGT &l 2 ke
defined contribution retirement plan, _ 161 461
Other benefits Hw @l 2,169 2,349
11,015 19,545

Note a: As at 30 June 2023, the Group has recognised accrued contract costs based on
progress of the projects. The relevant contracts were terminated under mutual
agreement of relevant parties and the certain accrued contract costs were
over-estimated after revision of total contract costs of the projects. Reversal of
accrued contract costs was recognised during the year ended 30 June 2024.
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EBRIETBAEMS
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration, disclosed pursuant to the REER LTRARARKIIBRECEEREET
applicable Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance is as follows: HAEMEMT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAEL FAET
Fees e 1,289 1,037
Other emoluments: Hipdi &
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 0 2R REDHIR 549 4,544
Discretionary bonus BT - 570
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme RINE BN 28 55
577 5,169
1,866 6,206
(a) Executive directors and chief executive @ BTEERIETHAE
Salaries,
allowances Contributions
and to retirement
benefits Discretionary benefit Total
Fees in kind bonus scheme remuneration
B0 R
AR RIKEF
#e EWAz  BETA HEEXR et

|
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

i zE THL THEL THEL TEL TEL
Year ended 30 June 2024 HE_Z_|WF
NAZTHIEEE

Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Lam Wing Hung KB L (i 27 336 - 5 368
Mr. Hu Xiongjie il (il 4 21 - - 25
Mr. Wang Rong FREE (i) 130 192 - - 322
Mr. Zhu Shengmao REREE (iv) 202 - - 15 217
Mr. Cui Qingho ERREE (v) 363 - - 8 371
726 549 - 28 1,303
Year ended 30 June 2023 HE-T-=%
ANAZTHILEE
Executive directors: RITES
Mr. Lee Wai Sang TERERE (vi) 14 1,617 159 9 1,799
Mr. Leung Pak Yin RMaREAE (vii) 1 1,054 55 18 1,128
Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie ~ 2HEHz+ (viii) 4 201 30 9 244
Mr. Lau King Lok e il (ix) 3 318 326 5 652
Mr. Lam Wing Hung kB 7 (i 61 880 - 14 955
Mr. Hu Xiongjie il (i) 136 474 - - 610
219 4,544 570 55 5,388

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited —0— 10 3
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EBRIETHEAEM:(H)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) Executive directors and chief executive @ BTEERFEBETHAE(E)

(continued)

Notes: it -

(i) Mr. Lam Wing Hung was appointed and resigned as an executive i MAEFEDR-F=—FNATAAR
director of the Company with effect from 16 September 2022 and 20 ZE_CFENAZTARZARALANT
September 2023 respectively. BERFLIARAHTEERE

(i) Mr. Hu Xiongjie was appointed and resigned as an executive director (i)  HERAESFIR-F_—F+A+—HAEK
of the Company with effect from 11 October 2022 and 13 July 2023 ZE_CFL AT HEZERAL AR
respectively. BERBLIALRAHTEERE -

(i) Mr. Wang Rong was appointed as an executive director, the chief (iii) IFEALEZARILAHTEE (TBAE
executive officer and the Chairman of the Company with effect from 13 HFLIE SFE-F_=FtHAT=H"
July 2023, 20 September 2023 and 23 November 2023 respectively. CE e AR A

ST ZHEE -

(iv)  Mr. Zhu Shengmao was appointed and resigned as an executive i) KEEAEDFIR-FE_ZF+A-1AR
director of the Company with effect from 20 July 2023 and 15 January ZE-—AE- AT RAREERARTNT
2024 respectively. fgﬁlﬁfﬁﬂ AHTEERF

(v)  Mr. Cui Qingbo was appointed as an executive director of the Company W) EERALEZABALANGTEE A=
with effect from 23 November 2023. E_—F - A-FZHEEK-

(vi)  Mr. Lee Wai Sang resigned as an executive director and the chief i) FREZEFZFLARTEERTRAEH
executive office of the Company with effect from 13 December 2022. B B-F-—#F1-AT=HEEH -

(vii)  Mr. Leung Pak Yin resigned as an executive director of the Company wi)  RERALHZRLANTEFRY  H=
with effect from 13 December 2022. E-—FfZAZHEERK -

(viii)  Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie resigned as an executive director of the wiii)  RRBLLELE AL ARTEERE 5=
Company with effect from 13 December 2022. E_—FF-fr=REEH-

(ix)  Mr. Lau King Lok resigned as an executive director of the Company with (x) — HREALELFATRGTEFRE A=
effect from 9 September 2022. E__EAANAEEN -

There were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the AEREVERENESIAMEERMAR

directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or SEAMAREE R 2 REYHEEBRE -

as compensation for loss of office.
(b) Non-executive director (b) FHTEE

The fees paid to non-executive director was as follows: ENTHATES2REMT :

2024 2023

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

BiE FERT FET

Mr. Tsang Ho Yin LRERLE (i) 180 160

Note: i

(i) Mr. Tsang Ho Yin, as an independent non-executive director of the 1] RABUHRTEELEEA LR -F
Company, has been re-designated as a non-executive director of the ::¢ Bt AEBFERERAHHTE
Company with effect from 20 January 2023. £o
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EBRIETHEAEM:(H)
REMUNERATION (continued)
(c) Independent non-executive directors (0 BIYXHTEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors were as ENTRUFRTESCHENT
follows:
2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE TET FTET
Mr. So Chi Hang gFEERL (i) 20 225
Mr. Heng Ching Kuen, Franklin FEREEE (ii) 20 220
Mr. Tsang Ho Yin LEERE (iii) - 95
Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung FHERL (iv) 120 59
Ms. Wang Qin ITEL+ (v) 3 59
Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry o B S A (vi) 110 -
Mr. Ma Jian BRIKE (vii) 110 -
383 658
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent F$¢Fﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁmm
non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil). 2(ZF-=F 8-
Notes: it -
(i) Mr. So Chi Hang resigned as an independent non-executive director of (i HEEBALFLZRRABTFHTEER
the Company with effect from 20 July 2023. B B-E_ZFtA-FHELH -
(i) Mr. Heng Ching Kuen, Franklin resigned as an independent non- (i)  FIEBALBLIXLABUFHTEER
executive director of the Company with effect from 20 July 2023. B BZF_=F+H_fHEEM -
(i)~ Mr. Tsang Ho Yin, as an independent non-executive director of the (i)  ARABUHRTEELEEA LR -F
Company, has been re-designated as a non-executive director of the ZZFE- A AR RE L AHHTE
Company with effect from 20 January 2023. #o
(iv)  Ms. Lee Kwai Sheung was appointed as an independent non-executive (iv) ?Kfiﬁ}?iig;/fﬁﬁﬂ AEVHHITE
director of the Company with effect from 20 January 2023. F AF-ZF—fHELH -
(v)  Ms. Wang Qin was appointed and resigned as an independent non- v  FELLHHR-FZZF-A-+ARZ
executive director of the Company with effect from 20 January 2023 E_ZFt AT —AEZEEBERABTH

and 11 July 2023 respectively.

(vi)  Mr. Tse Kwok Hing, Henry was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 20 July 2023.

(vii)  Mr. Ma Jian was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 20 July 2023.

HITEERFZL R AB U TEFR -

v  HEERALREZCERALABLHHTE
F A-F_CFLA-THELH

wi)  BRALBEZARALGBIHHTEE
H-F_—FtA_THELH-

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited —0— 10 5
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2023:
five) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 8
above. Details of the remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2024 of
the remaining two (2023: nil) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company, are as follows:

hEREFHEESRSREEENE

AERIERRFMNERBR =R (ZF_=F:
hE)EE EMERIIR EXMES -HE-F
TRERAZTHLEFEARMA (ZT_=F:
B)YFALREEREIRTHRABZRRFHE
BZMEFEMT

2024

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Discretionary bonus METEA
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme RIS TSR

Their remuneration fell within the following band:

- RRREDAS

HK$'000
TAET

911
250
20

1,181

HEZHHBR THHEA :

Number of
employees
EE#A
2024

Nil to HK$1,000,000

During the current and prior years, none of the five highest paid
individuals waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.

During the current and prior years, there were no emoluments paid by
the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

Senior management’s emoluments excluding

the directors
The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management
(excluding the directors) were within the following band:

Z 21,000,000 7T

2

REAEERBEFE - Afu
AABHEEAHE -

RaF A THERE

REAMEBEFE  ARELERNDNRSHMA
ITXNHEEAMAREERMATE B 2 KB
ABERAE -

EREEE (BEERMN cHe

ARREREXE (EFRIN)
RTAEER :

ENSEN B

Number of employees

EE&A
2024 2023

Nil to HK$1,000,000

106 -

Z £1,000,00078 7T

None (2023: none) of senior management whose emoluments are
included in five highest paid individuals as set out in the note above.

2023/2024% % Annual Report
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FAGHBAX

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated statement of GABRERAMZARERTASHAXSRE:
profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Current tax SER IR
— Under-provision in respect of prior years - BEFEREIR - 1
Income tax expense S HR - 1

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is exempted
from income tax. It is not subject to tax in other jurisdictions.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong profit tax has been made as the Group did
not generate any assessable profits in Hong Kong for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC

subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Income tax on assessable profits of overseas subsidiaries are calculated

at the rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

AARRAERSEMKULLBRRAEN - HE
ARMEMLEEERABIA o

EEFERIBREREFE NG ERBERIEH
£16.5%zT & o

AR EERZMEFEER AL EE L ERER
BEN - REEFERN SR B

BEFBECEMERE ((ERERE]) REEHM
SREBHREN - PENBRARMEFENHE
1 525% o

EONRB A R MERB R FIMA ST RIER AR
BREERHENE -

$¢FZFﬁ RREXTERGRRER
aRARAERAERSENT -

kEM2ER

2024 2023

Loss before income tax

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%)
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries

B AR HATE R

RERARE16.5%(ZF==F : 16.5%)

T

e IR EEOHBL T TRRE

operating in other jurisdictions WBRBETE
Tax effect of non-taxable income ﬁﬁﬂ”ﬂl?\ZfRﬁ?&’a
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TANBRX RGBT E
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERHEBEZHETE
Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised ~ KABRERER /BB E
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised — EjFAE KRR 2 HIEEE
Others Hit
Income tax expense G IR

SAREERERAT

CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited

HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHAT
(13,044) (53,555)
(2,152) (8,836)
(199) (301)
(827) (155)
2,983 2,577
1,657 7,202
446 473
(1,836) 9)
(72) (950)
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DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the year
ended 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on the
loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of approximately
133,933,000 (2023: 91,717,000).

The Group had no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue during the
years ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners of
the Company is based on the following data:

&
ARERBE_E-_MESA=THIFEREY
MEERRE(ZE_=F &) -

BRESR
BREXNBELENREARRABEE ANBLAFE
EB R B 2 i T35 849133,933,0008% (=
Z=%:91,717,0000%) & -

FEEREE_T_MEAA=TER-FT-=F
NAZTRLFEYEAEERERR I ERITE
B o

KRAEE A2 SREABRNBEATHE
e

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Loss BRE
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted loss AR EEREAREEBRZER
per share (13,044) (53,556)

Number of shares

2024 2023

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss per share (Note)

108 o-—

RiHEA
I8 (H i)
Notes:

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue and basic and diluted loss per
share were adjusted after taking into account the following events:

(i) The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic loss
per share has been adjusted for the consolidation of shares as set out in Note
26(i); and

(i) Bonus elements arising from the rights issue at the price lower than market

value has been adjusted on the determination of weighted average number of
shares. as set out in Note 26(iii).

2023/2024% % Annual Report
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VgL 4=
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133,933 91,717

#iz -
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 13. NE BERREURERAEEE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Movement of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets: NE BEMRBALEREEECRY
Owned  Leasehold  Furniture and Office Motor Sub- Right-of-use
building  improvement fixtures ~ equipment vehicles Total assels Total
iy &
REBT  MXRE KB BORR k- Mt RRERE it
|
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR TER TAL TR TER TR TEL TER

Cost A
At1July 2022 “E-CEHA-H = 5,168 1,754 9117 21,121 30,238
Additions RE = 1783 131 1914 7871 9785
Disposals te - - = (1,019 - (1,019
Written off i - (5,168) (424) (6,112) (20,157) (26,269)
Modification 3 - = 5 5 (261) (261)
Exchange difference EXEE - - 4 (4 (81) (85)
At 30 June 2023 R=E-=#xA=1H = 1,783 1457 3,896 8473 12,369
Additions HE = 575 12 587 - 587
Transfer from investment BREMEER (WF14)

property (Note 14) 6,660 - - 6,660 - 6,660
Modification Eu = = = = 121 121
At30 June 2024 R-E-WEXA=ZTH 6,660 2,358 1,469 11,143 8,594 19737
Accumulated depreciation R FERAE

and impairment
At 1T July 2022 “E-"E+A-H - 5,168 1,754 9,117 21,121 30,238
Provided for the year FERG - 60 1 1 93 994
Disposals HE - - - (1,019 - (1,019
Written off s - (5,168) (424) (6,112) (20,157) 26,269)
Impairment losses REER - 1723 120 1,843 6,895 8,738
Modification 5 - - - = (281) (281)
Exchange difference EXER - = )] )] (28) (32)
At 30 June 2023 S Yl = 1783 1457 3,89 8473 12,369
Provided for the year Rk 389 105 - 494 12 506
Impairment losses HEER - 470 12 48 109 591
At 30 June 2024 RZE-WEAA=TH 389 2358 1,469 4872 8,594 13,466
Net hook value BEFE
At 30 June 2024 R-E-MEAR=1H 6,271 = = 6,271 = 6,271
At30 June 2023 RZE-=FxA=1H - - - - - -

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The analysis of carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class of

underlying assets are as follows:

%%\%E&Eﬁu&ﬁﬁﬁﬁé
IIE
ERBAEERIA N ARAEZ REENT

Office

Properties equipment

leased for leased for
own use own use Total

EREE EREE
mE MAERE Bat

|

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT AT FTHT
At 1 July 2022 —E-—F+A—H - - -
Additions NE 7,871 - 7,871
Depreciation HE (923) - (923)
Impairment losses REEE (6,895) = (6,895)
Exchange difference ERER (53) - (53)
At 30 June 2023 RZZZ=F,A=1H - - -
Modification (Note 15) Bk (Hzt15) ~ 121 121
Depreciation e = (12) (12)
Impairment losses AR - (109) (109)

At 30 June 2024

RZZ_WFR A=A -

(@)  Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets
Due to the unfavourable performance of the Group resulting from
the deteriorated economic environment and uncertain outlook of
the Group’s business, the management of the Group concluded
there was indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on certain property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets with carrying amounts of HK$482,000 and HK$109,000
respectively (2023: HK$1,843,000 and HK$6,895,000
respectively). The Group assessed the recoverable amounts of
the certain property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
allocated to the CGU which involved in Hong Kong and PRC
segments.

The recoverable amount of owned building, within the Hong
Kong segment is estimated individually. The Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the owned building based on higher of fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. The carrying amount
of the relevant asset does not exceed the recoverable amount
based on fair value less costs of disposal and no impairment has
been recognised.

11 U @ o 2023/2024% % Annual Report

@ BE BERREUREREEERAENG

AREERERCRASBELAHSTH
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BERALBRRERS CHERED R A
482 00078 7T }2109,0008 L (ZE - =%
2 Bl &1,843,0007 7T %.6,895,000/% 7T) H)
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(a)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (continued)

In addition, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the asset belongs when it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, including
allocation of corporate assets when reasonable and consistent
basis can be established. Each CGU represents the Group’s
operation in respective geographical locations.

The Group assessed the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
CGU assets were allocated by the value-in-use calculation. The
value-in-use calculation was determined by an independent
qualified professional valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited.
Value-in-use was estimated with reference to the cash flow
projections based on the most recent financial forecasts approved
by the directors of the Company covering a period of five years,
which represented the management’s best estimate of the range
of economic conditions that will exist over the remaining useful
life of the assets and are consistent with past actual outcomes.
Estimated revenue under the cash flow projections was mainly
based on the unfulfilled and potential sales contracts for the first
year under the projections period and further estimate the future
revenue with an annual growth rate of 2.0% (2023: 2.5%) for the
second to fifth years under the projections period, which were
based on past performance and management’s expectations of
market development. Gross profit margin have been determined
by historical record of similar project with each customer
individually. The pre-tax discount rate used is 15.0% (2023:
6.6%), which is derived from the weighted average cost of capital
of the Group with reference to market comparables.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the
Group determined that the recoverable amount of CGU is
lower than the carrying amount. The impairment amount has
been allocated pro rata to each category of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets such that the carrying
amounts of each category of asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal, its value in use
and zero. Based on the recoverable amount calculation and the
allocation, impairment losses of approximately HK$482,000 and
HK$109,000 (2023: HK$1,843,000 and HK$nil) were recognised
against the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income during the year ended 30
June 2024.

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited
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ot EEAEBEABENTRESHE
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RRAGBESHENENEE

AEEFHERECREEHEESERS
FEE&Q?ZﬁiFEEhZTW@i
5o FREBETEREBUAKEELER
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R EE R RERT 3 TEBENER
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AFORTEA > WRBEBAERBERERE
BHTSERNGMEL - ERERIEE
BAEES-EEFERNETZREBEME
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RA T2EMGUELBEARME

BEIGER AEEEBEETREESE
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REATERLERA  FREERSZR
E% BEKEEETERSE  ERE
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BARFEREEE RAERDAESEY
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND 13. M¥E BERRBURERAEESE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) (%

(@ Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment and @ W% BERREAREREEERET
right-of-use assets (continued) (%)
The carrying amount of the owned building has not been reduced ARERFEREEXASNEEE  #8
since the fair value less cost of disposal is higher than the carrying ERFTHREEYERD - BERTHRA
amount. The owned building was measured at fair value based on ?%Iiﬁr%ﬁfﬁﬁﬂi}?fﬁﬂﬁﬁ RARIFEE R
Level 3 hierarchy using direct comparison approach determined ERLBE RE=RATERRRATE

by the independent professional valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals
Limited. The valuation under direct comparison approach
is determined by making reference to comparable market
transactions of similar properties. And the most significant input

itE - REERLBAETNAEENZER
BENENARBETERIET - ZRIRS
B WHRERSTANER  WRHEDS
ENSERBABBAEMER -

into this valuation approach is the unit sale price, taking into
account the differences in transaction time, location and size etc.

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 14. REWNE

2024 2023

HK$/000 HK$/000
FET FET
Fair value AYE
At 1 July RtA-AH 7,890 8,050
Decrease in fair value of investment property REMERTERD (1,230) (160)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (Note 13) E&EZE¥% - BiE k& (F13) (6,660) -
At 30 June WARA=1H - 7,890

N2 o

The investment property represented leasehold land and building
located in Hong Kong under medium lease term held for generating
rental income.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the uses of the Group’s investment
property have been changed from capital appreciation and leasing
out for rental income to owner-occupation. The investment property
amounting to HK$6,660,000 at the date of transfer were transferred from
investment property to property, plant and equipment at the date of
commencement of owner occupation.

The fair value of the Group’s investment property as at the date of
transfer and 30 June 2023 was arrived at on the basis of valuations
carried out at the date by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited and Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited respectively, independent firms of
qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group, who have
appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of
similar properties in the relevant locations.

As at 30 June 2023, the fair value of investment property is a level 3
recurring fair value measurement.

2023/2024% % Annual Report
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14.

Investment property

REME

Notes to the Consolidated

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair values of investment property is determined by applying income
approach by capitalising rental income on a fully leased basis having
regard to the current passing rental income from existing tenancy and
the potential reversionary rental income at market level.

The following table shows the significant unobservable inputs used in
the valuation model.

At 30 June 2023

Valuation
techniques

Fair value
hierarchy

Significant
unobservable inputs

DNYEER EERH EXTUBRGARE

Level 3 Income approach  Market monthly rental rate
taking into account of
individual factors such as
location, floor, size, etc.

(HK$/sq.ft)

Capitalisation rate of
reversionary income

miEARE - 2R ERER
RE g 28
BE B/ THR)

F=R WAE

BRAMEALL X

The fair value measurement is based on the above property’s highest
and best use, which does not differ from their actual use.

As at 30 June 2023, the carrying amount of the investment property
amounted to approximately HK$7,890,000 had been pledged to a bank
as security for the Group’s banking facilities.

At the date of transfer from investment property to property, plant and
equipment, the fair value is determined by market approach by direct
comparison method assuming the property is capable of being sold in
its existing state with the benefit of vacant possession and by making
reference to comparable sales evidence as available in the relevant
market.

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited
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4. RENR(E)

BENENAFERBBUAZET - IREER
BRAONEESRARTSKFNEERERES

BARER B2 b ENERERSWAERL -
TRENMLERYPERNEATTBREARE -

R-ZBZ=F5XA=1H

2

Range of
unobservable inputs
FUBREA
HENEE

Sensitivity to changes in
unobservable inputs
HRATEZGABELD
ZHBE

HK$27.0 to HK$41.4  The estimated fair value of the
investment property would

increase if:

— market monthly rental rate was
2.6% higher; or
- the capitalisation rate of
reversionary income was lower

27.0BTLEMAET HEUTER REDEZEFAT

EREEm:
- WHEARRET &
2.6%
- BRERAMBRCL X TR
?Eﬁ RERLENENZESREERE - M
,,,,,, ERMELENH -

RZZE-=F,A=1+H  KEEX7,890,000/5 T
ZIREMECER TR kALEERTRE L
gl I

RERENKXERENE FMERRERS  ATE
DS ERERLBEET - BRRUEIRARN
HEYFAZEEHRE A2 EREMELNA
BUBHEER
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15. LEASES

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as

lessee)
The Group entered into various lease agreements for office premises and

office equipment. These leases have non-cancellable lease terms with
an initial period ranging from three to five years (2023: one to six years).
Except for the lease for office equipment, all leases held by the Group

M4 -

comprise only fixed payments over the lease terms.

LEASE LIABILITIES

At 1 July 2022 N_Z__FtHA—H
Additions NE

Interest expenses MERX
Modification of lease terms B

Lease payments HERH

Exchange difference EXER

At 30 June 2023 RZBZ=FRA=1H
Interest expenses MERX
Modification of lease terms PG
Lease payments HERH
Exchange difference EHER

Early termination of lease (Note 5(ii))
At 30 June 2024

Total cash outflow for leases including payments of principal and
interests portion of lease liabilities for the year ended 30 June 2024
are approximately HK$1,321,000 (2023: HK$6,703,000). Additions to
right-of-use assets resulting from new leases entered for the year ended
30 June 2024 are approximately HK$nil (2023: HK$7,072,000) while
resulting from lease modification due to extension of lease terms are

TR A A E T & (B9 5Es i)
RZE-WFE A=1H

approximately HK$121,000 (2023: reduction of HK$140,000).

Future lease payments are due as follows:

Not later than one year TEB—F
Later than one year and not later than two years ~ —% & R T @AM F
Later than two years and not later than five years ~ RF &R T HBBAF

2023/2024% % Annual Report
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HE
HERB 2 MHE (UEABEAZEH)

AEERBLAENERPLEREILNRAEER
o ZEMETETURABES Nal=2
E(CE-ZE-EAE) BRTHOEREZR
%ﬁ;$%§%ﬁ2%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ2&
ERR e

HERE
Leased office  Leased office
premises equipment Total
Eiﬁ?f?ﬂ‘é%% EENAERE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT TAT FAT
6,070 359 6,429
7,072 - 7,072
287 14 301
(140) - (140)
(6,595) (108) (6,703)
(53) = (53)
6,641 265 6,906
155 12 167

- 121 121
(1,229) (92) (1,321)
(10) = (10)
(4,561) - (4,561)
996 306 1,302

BE-_Z_ME A=tHILEERE E@fﬁémﬁ
LE(BEREEEAERAENIHNTE) D
A1,321 oooﬁém<_7__¢ 6,703, oooﬁén)
BE-Z-MEAA-TALFERIUFRE
ﬁﬁ%ﬁi*m@}ﬂséffz%ﬁ%f%m(_2:_¢
7,072,00087T) - MALREERmELE HER
WA F121,0008 7 (ZF Z=F : 5 140,000/
JT) °

ARBENFTHHBEROT :
Minimum

lease payments Interest ~ Present value
30 June 30 June 30 June
2024 2024 2024
HEREMR 2 RE
TP -z-pf —F-QmE
/\Hf—I_El /\H——I_E /\H——I_El
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TAET TAT TAT
588 50 538
683 28 655
112 3 109
1,383 81 1,302
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE#E)
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as HEERDME (UEEAZHR) (8)
lessee) (continued)
LEASE LIABILITIES (continued) HERE (&)
Future lease payments are due as follows: (continued) AREENRIBERNT : (&)
Minimum
lease payments Interest  Present value
30 June 30 June 30 June
2023 2023 2023
HEREMR M BE

—E-=F —EC-=F —E-=F
NB=1H NA=TH NA=TH
|

HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET
Not later than one year THEB—F 2,763 391 2,372
Later than one year and not later than two years —~ —%{& R T BBMF 2,763 217 2,546
Later than two years and not later than five years RS {&RTBBRF 2,028 40 1,988
7,554 648 6,906
The weighted average increment borrowing rates applied to lease BERBEMERNMNETOEEEENERNT4.5%
liabilities range from 4.5% to 5.1% (2023: 4.5% to 5.1%). E51%(ZB2=F  4.5%%5.1%)
The present value of future lease payments is analysed as: ARBERFREATNOT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FTET
Current liabilities MENAE 538 2,372
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 764 4,534
1,302 6,906
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as HERH2ME (UHBAZEH)
lessor)
The Group leased out investment property under operating leases. FEERBREHERREMFE LA - BETVRA
Leases were negotiated and rentals are fixed for lease terms with an SRE-SE7RNMESNANN HEBETE -
initial period of one year.
At the end of the reporting period, the minimum lease receivables under RBEHR  REMTHHEL2HE RERRE
non-cancellable operating leases were as follows: EXEMT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TR
Not later than one year TEB—F - 34

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited —0— 11 5
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSET 6. BEEE
Intangible asset represents the gaming license purchased at a cost of ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ??ﬁﬁ/\$$r%ﬁ¢fﬁ3 916,000/ 7T & A
HK$3,916,000 during the current year, which has an estimated useful R Tﬁﬁ'—ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ AR ERE
life of 5 years. No amortisation has been charged to profit or loss during EH ,Hﬁhrk$$ﬁ EHR QTERAEERETN
the current year as it is purchased near the end of the current reporting BREgs -
period.
17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17. BREZRHEMFKE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B E FET FET
Trade receivables, net W E 5208558 (i) 1,348 4,648
Retention receivables, net ARG &3 (i) 781 1,538
Deposits and other receivables B R HE iR (iii) 2,150 3,358
Prepayments SELRE Q] (iv) 7,306 10,838
Total st 11,585 20,382
Less: Non-current portion o FEREE D
Refundable deposits AREES (123) (886)
Total current portion MENE 0 BT 11,462 19,496
Notes: st :

(i) (i)

HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT F
Trade receivables [ERE Z5F 3,786 4,648
Less: Loss allowance (Note 33) R EEREE (HiE33) (2,438) -
1,348 4,648
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing. The Group does not hold any collateral JEWE GBI TGHE - AEFU KRG ERHIEEEME
or other credit enhancements over these balances. The credit period granted to trade HRARREM NS EEREN A EERNESEFRTZIE
customers is within 30 days in general and up to 60 days upon the issue of the invoice, EH—RAENANTEEFIELR TRZAEHEZE60H
which is considered on a case-by-case basis. Application for progress payments of ZIEEH o HEEHEENTHIEL
projects is made on a regular basis.
The following is an analysis of trade receivables (net of impairment losses allowance /Vé‘lﬂ?,‘é”% FE (G B EREBEN T2 REEERE)Z
under expected credit loss model) by age, based on the invoice dates: R (EEEAH) T
HK$000 HK$000
TET TET
Less than 1 month TEB—1EH 797 1,457
1 to 3 months —Z2=145 379 887
3 to 6 months =EYay i)zl - 1,851
More than 6 months but less than 1 year NEFYU FETEE—F - 453
More than 1 year —FY L 172 =
1,348 4,648
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

Retention receivables is unsecured and interest-free and represented the
amounts which representing generally 5% of the contract value withheld by
customers and recoverable after the completion of defect liability period of
the relevant contracts, the terms and conditions in relation to the release of
retention vary from contract to contract, which is subject to the issuance of
practical completion certificates or the expiry of the defect liability period
which is generally 12 months after the completion of the respective contracts.
These retention receivables are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mmﬁ%ﬁﬁm

BWE S KEMRE &)

it - (&)

(i)

BUFRE 2 BEARREE  B—RIBEREFPHE
ZENEEZ5%  WARBEANZHEE T
BRNE BEEEERELZHEHREHEEAMN
£ BQARER T IZRE FH ARG E R
B (—RBEXKTLIEI2EG)ME - B BT BAE

2024 2023

Retention receivables
Less: Loss allowance (Note 33)

(iii)

(iv)

R - BRER (Wi33)

Included in the balances was input value added tax (“VAT”) receivable of
approximately HK$1,101,000 (2023: HK$367,000) as at 30 June 2024. Input
VAT arose when the Group purchases materials from suppliers in the PRC and
the input VAT can be deducted from output VAT on revenue generated in the
PRC.

Included in the balances was prepayments to suppliers and subcontractors of
approximately HK$6,590,000 (2023: HK$9,855,000) as at 30 June 2024.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables are set out in Note 33.

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited

(iif)

(iv)

HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
1,092 1,538
(311) -

781 1,538

BHEPEE-FE-MENA=FANEREEF
([HEH ) EBFHE101,0008T (ZF==Z4:
367,00087) - BEFHEEFEETLEERR
HEHEREENHEEL NS EREERET
WERFEEEZ KA B AT HEFH BN o

ABPEE-F-MEN 1 AMELERR
ZEEFIB6,590,0008 7T (ZF==% 9,855,000
Br) -

BRAEE EERENLRERKE SR AWK
B2 EERBREE—FF EERH 33 -
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18.

19.

M8 v

CONTRACT ASSETS

18.

A I|’J§E

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEL THT

Analysed as current: AT RENE :
Unbilled revenue (note (a)) AAEE (@) 25,161 =
Less: Loss allowance (Note 33) o EEEE (FE33) (286) =
Total contract assets BHEERE 24,875 =

Note:

(a)  Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group’s right
to receive consideration for work completed but not yet billed because the
rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on the projects
completed by the Group and the work is pending for the certification by the
customers. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the
rights become unconditional. Upon completion of service and acceptance by
the customer, the amounts recognised as contract assets are reclassified to
trade receivables.

Contract assets are included in current assets as the Group expects to
realise these within its normal operating cycle.

For contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the allowance for credit losses at
lifetime ECL. Except for significant balances or credit-impaired amounts
which are assessed for impairment individually, the remaining contract
assets are grouped under a collective assessment after considering
internal credit ratings of debtors, ageing, repayment history and/or
past due status. Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for supportable forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered.

Details of the impairment assessment of contract assets are set out in
note 33.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents of
the Group denominated in RMB and were held in the PRC amounted
to approximately HK$8,289,000 (2023: HK$928,000), which is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. Certain of the Group’s
cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates.

2023/2024% % Annual Report
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
n\/T\

BT RKME

20 ENEZREMKE

2024 2023

Notes

k=

(ii)

i

(i)

HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAT
4,851 3,240
9,918 16,006
5,941 1,005
20,710 20,251

B EGHBZHE AT (RERAH) T

2024 2023

Trade payables FERE 508
Other payables and accruals Hib R R FIR
Accrued interest eSS
Total @5t
Notes:
(i) An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:
Less than 1 month TH#B—1E7
1 to 3 months —Z2=17A
3 to 6 months ZE/EA
More than 6 months but less than 1 year NEAULETEE—F
More than 1 year —EY F
The Group’s trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally have
payment terms of 0 to 90 days.
(i) Included in the balances was other payables and accruals related to office

administration and accrued costs for projects of approximately HK$2,933,000
(2023: HK$3,153,000) and HK$6,985,000 (2023: HK$12,853,000),
respectively. As at 30 June 2024, other payables are non-interest bearing and
have average payment terms of 31 to 90 days (2023: 31 to 90 days).

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited

(i)

HK$000 HK$000
FET FET
1,433 583

- 781

137 603

659 428
2,622 845
4,851 3,240

FEENENESGHEITHE  BEEHREER
02904 °

BHRPOFEERAZTRS A MEN RIES mﬁlﬁ
Lx RIE B [EHE A 7 5I#92,933,0008 70 (ZF =
F 13,153,000 7) £6,985,000% T (=% _:éE §
12,853,00087) - RZE-ZHENA=F+H K
BT 518 A FHEEHBIIZ0H (ZF
ZZF:31F90H) -
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21. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21. BHERE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Contract liabilities in relation to: BENTEEZEHEE
Millwork and furniture ARG REE - 4,973
Interior solutions projects ERRRHRER 2,578 1,770
Maintenance services 1%%)1&5’% - 14
Design and project consultancy services Rt RIE B #H AR - 25
2,578 6,782
Note: i
The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced consideration received form BHEEEEBRENEF ZEHE -
customers.
The following table shows the movements in contract liabilities: FXIFEHBEZZE
|
HK$'000
FET
At T July 2022 RZF-Z#F+H—H 13,307

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liabilities balance — FTAF {2 &2 418 [Ef6r 2 B BZNA

at the beginning of the year (13,307)
Increase in contract liabilities BHIEEEN 6,782
At 30 June 2023 and 1 July 2023 RoEZ=Z#FNA=1THAR-FE-=4F+H—H 6,782
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liabilities balance T AF f]EF2 & 418 [E# 642 E BZUA

at the beginning of the year (6,782)
Increase in contract liabilities AHIBEEN 2,578
At 30 June 2024 R-F-mEXA=1A 2,578

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities recognised FELERENEETEZ BERNHEHNT -

are as follow:

When the Group receives a deposit before the service commences, this will give rise to EFEFRLEZHRANUTES  BHBEBERELE
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant BEESL BREBAAZEBRNNEL T8 K&
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group typically receives a 5% deposit E-REBRFELEAAETELKFSU%EE -

from certain customers before the service commences.

The Group’s contracts usually have duration of one year or less from date of contract FEFTVRAN—RABAFLE A ZEREHEEZ AL
inception to date of satisfaction of performance obligation. The Group has applied the BE—FHUT - FEFCRAEEREE L WEM I E
practical expedient and therefore does not include information about revenue that the REEEER R TR AL —FHAL THIB AP
Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance obligations under BENETREEREROUA  EREGEUAHEH -

the contracts that had an original expected duration of one year or less.
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BT RKME

IMF

22. OTHER BORROWINGS AND 2 HtEERRRER
SHAREHOLDER'S LOAN
2024 2023
Current Non-current Current Non-current
& FERE nE ERE
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
iz FAT FHEL FATT FAT
Unsecured 3K
Other borrowings HipfeE (a) 48,450 5,000 25,474 45,413
Shareholder’s loan BREER (b) - 30,000 = =
48,450 35,000 25,474 45,413
As at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023, total current and non-current RZE-MEAA=Z+HR-_E-_ZF~A=T

other borrowings and shareholder's loan were scheduled to repay as
follows:

Other borrowings:

On demand or within one year

More than one year, but not exceeding two years
More than five years

Shareholder's loan:
More than one year, but not exceeding two years

Notes:

(a)

Hinfg &
BEXER—FR
—ENF - BTBBME
RENE

BRRE
—EN L BTRBRE

Other borrowings

Current portion

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group has unsecured and
unguaranteed loan facilities in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$76,000,000 bearing an interest of 2% per annum from CCH (BVI) Limited
("CGH"), a former shareholder of the Company and a company owned as to
50% by each of Mr. Lee Wai Sang and Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie (both being
the former executive directors of the Company), under three loan agreements
(the "Loan Agreements") entered into between the Group and CGH on 22
December 2021, 28 October 2022 and 21 November 2022, respectively.

In March 2023, the Group was notified by CGH that it has assigned all its rights
under the Loan Agreements and the underlying loans to an independent third
party pursuant to a deed of assignment dated 23 March 2023 (the "Assignment
of Loans"). The Assignment of Loans was made unilaterally by CGH pursuant
to the terms of the Loan Agreements, all terms and conditions of the loans
remain unchanged. As at 30 June 2024, the amortised cost of the loans
from the independent third party was approximately HK$48,450,000 (2023:
HK$70,887,000) and it was determined with effective interest rates of 6% to
8.69% per annum. During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group has repaid
the principal amount of HK$26,000,000.

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited

' 4 /ﬁ@)&3E//lL@ﬁ@FE&HX%EMEH%m

ﬁéTﬁlJ%ﬁFﬁf,\ &

2024 2023

Wit

(@)

HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT
48,450 25,474

- 45,413
5,000 -
53,450 70,887
30,000 -

AMER

FEEHFH

PREF-F-Z#E A=+HIEE RELFLE
HCGH (BVI) Limited ([CGHJ) (— B/ A 2\ Al g 77
f%?@fﬁé&%%%}%f%ﬁ#ﬁm%ﬁﬂ 7])
/‘ﬁ/iA_ £= ¢+ iy + g :%“::fﬁ“ﬁ

fmz’w(fﬁ ;ﬁpﬁj) Zr EM ﬂﬁ/&%CGH
BREARREERZEABE FHER2% &
EAEFE 76,000,000

REFZ=F=f  FEEFECCHEA  RIEAHA
ZEC =S ANEERE ([EEEN])

CGHEBEREF & RIGHEF B THF B EF
BEF—ZBEUE=N BERNACCHIRIER

BENRFETEETT  BEABIE KT R KR
BIE - R-FE-MENA=1A BUEZ/IE
FA S A A 548,450,000 T (ZFE==F -
70,887,00087) + & B EBEFIE6%28.69%
§AE ﬁff 7E¢/\ﬁ_7LE.Lt§E/* ZT FUE
1 E X £ 826,000,000 7T °
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22. OTHER BORROWINGS AND 2. HittfEERRRER (&)
SHAREHOLDER'S LOAN (continued)
Notes: (continued) Wit - (&)
(a) Other borrowings (continued) (a) EMEE (&)
Non-current portion B
On 2 May 2024, the Group issued a bond amounted to HK$5,000,000 at an Ro-F-mFERA—H ZEERBEVEZ¥T%
interest rate of 5% per annum to an independent third party. The bond has a 15,000,008 T2 BF  FHERS%  ZAEFAE
term of 7 years and set to mature on 1 May 2031. The bond is guaranteed by B+ E URR-E=—FRH—AFH - AEFeH
a corporate guarantee of a Company’s subsidiary, which holds a building with Zlf A —RIB L AR L AR MANE L AR
carrying amount of approximately HK$6,300,000 as at 30 June 2024. ZE-AFENA =1 B E B FEE#6,300,000
BT ZEF -
(b)  Shareholder’s loan b) REE
On 8 August 2023, the Group obtained an unsecured and unguaranteed loan R-B-ZF/\ANA  FEELRFEG—ZE5
facility with interest-bearing of 15% per annum amounted to HK$30,000,000 EZ ENBEZ AHERIHEZ ERRRELERZ
from its shareholder for two years from the draw down date of the loan facility. E ﬁzﬂ’ﬁ FFIER15% - £ /30,000,000
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group has drawn down all the loan ﬁ E-AFENA=1HIFE  FEBERTE
facility amounted to HK$30,000,000. HEH /qfﬁ30,000,000/§iz o
23. PROVISIONS 23. Bfe
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
T Fr
Analysed for reporting purpose as: RERBODIA :
Current liabilities nPaE - 7,941
Non-current liabilities FRBaB - 799
- 8,740
Reinstatement Onerous
works contracts Total
(Note (i) (Note (ii))
BRIRE EBRUESH
(Hiat() (Brat(in) st
|
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FTET FET
At 30 June 2024 RZF-EFEA=1A - - -
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=FA A=tH 799 7,941 8,740
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24.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROVISIONS (continued)

Notes:

(i) As at 30 June 2023, the provisions for reinstatement cost of properties leased
for own use in relation to the estimated cost of restoring the properties leased
for own use to its original state at the end of the respective lease terms. The
amount has not been discounted for the purpose of measuring the provisions
for reinstatement cost as the effect is not significant. During the year ended 30
June 2024, the provision has been reversed in full upon early termination of the
lease arrangement as disclosed in Note (5)(ii).

(i) As at 30 June 2023, the Croup has recognised provision for onerous contracts
relating to its obligations to complete an interior solution project and supply of
millwork and furniture to its customers. The estimated costs required to fulfil
the contracts have increased, and therefore, the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations exceed the revenue expected to be received. The onerous
contracts were terminated under mutual agreement of relevant parties and
the provision of HK$6,366,000 for onerous contracts was reversed during the
year ended 30 June 2024, while for the HK$1,575,000 has been settled in full
during the year ended 30 June 2024.

LOAN FROM A FORMER SHAREHOLDER

On 27 August 2021, the Group obtained an unsecured and
unguaranteed loan facility with interest-bearing of 5% per annum
amounted to HK$15,000,000 from its former shareholder, CGH, for two
years from the date of loan facility (“Loan Facility I”). During the year
ended 30 June 2022, amount of HK$6,000,000 was drawn down by the
Group and was fully repaid.

On 22 December 2021, the Group obtained another unsecured and
unguaranteed loan facility with interest-bearing of 2% per annum
amounted to HK$26,000,000 from its former shareholder, CGH,
for two years from the date of loan facility in which Loan Facility |
was superseded. During the year ended 30 June 2023, amount of
HK$4,000,000 was drawn down by the Group. The amortised cost of
the loan from a former shareholder was determined with the effective
interest rate of 6% per annum.

On 7 September 2022, the Group further obtained an unsecured and
unguaranteed loan facility with interest-bearing of 2% per annum
amounted to HK$13,000,000 from its former shareholder, CGH, for two
years from the date of loan facility (“Loan Facility 11”). During the year
ended 30 June 2023, amount of HK$3,000,000 was drawn down by the
Group and was fully repaid.

On 28 October 2022, the Group obtained another unsecured and
unguaranteed loan facility with interest-bearing of 2% per annum
amounted to HK$20,000,000 from its former shareholder, CGH, for
two years from the date of loan facility in which Loan Facility Il was
superseded. During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group has fully
drawn down the loan facility. The amortised cost of the loan from a
former shareholder was determined with the effective interest rate of
8.24% per annum.

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited
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24.

25.

124 o

LOAN FROM A FORMER SHAREHOLDER
(continued)

On 21 November 2022, the Group obtained another unsecured and
unguaranteed loan facility with interest-bearing of 2% per annum
amounted to HK$30,000,000 from its former shareholder, CGH, for two
years from the date of loan facility. During the year ended 30 June 2023,
the Group has fully drawn down the loan facility. The amortised cost of
the loan from a former shareholder was determined with the effective
interest rate of 8.69% per annum.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group obtained
the loan from its former shareholder on better terms. As a result, the
Group has recognised the better terms of the loan of approximately
HK$6,589,000 as deemed contribution and included as capital reserve
in equity during the year ended 30 June 2023.

As stated in Note 22(a), in March 2023, the Group was notified by CGH
that it has assigned all its rights under the Loan Agreements and the
underlying loans to an independent third party pursuant to a deed of
assignment dated 23 March 2023. As a result, the whole balance has
been reclassified as other borrowings of the Group (Note 22(a)).

DEFERRED TAX

As at 30 June 2024, certain subsidiaries of the Group had estimated
tax losses arising in Hong Kong and PRC amounting to approximately
HK$105,200,000 (2023: HK$109,726,000) and approximately
HK$6,044,000 (2023: HK$3,774,000), respectively that are available for
offsetting against their future taxable profits of those companies in which
the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax
losses can be carried forward indefinitely in Hong Kong and subject to
expiry period of five years in PRC.

2023/2024% % Annual Report
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26. SHARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 (2023: HK$0.4) each

26.

TN

FRAEGECOBIT(ZE=F 1 048T) 2 EBR

Ordinary
share Number of
per unit shares
BREBR
ZEfE i # 8
HK$ ('000) HK$'000
H T (FB) TET

Authorised: ETE
At 1 July 2022 RZE-ZFtA—AH
Share consolidation (Note (i)) B & b (B1E)

At 30 June 2023 R-E-=%5xA=t1H

Capital reduction and subdivision (Note (iv)) BRAEIR R IF4 (4 Z(iv)

At 30 June 2024 R-F-EmEAA=1H
Issued and fully paid: BETRER

At 1 July 2022 W=ZZE--FtA-AH

Share consolidation (Note (i) ki3 & B (B )

Issuance of shares, net of issuing expenses BRI - IRETRX

(Note (ii)) (Hrai)

At 30 June 2023

Issuance of shares on rights issue (Note (iii))
Capital reduction and subdivision (Note (iv))
Issuance of shares, net of issuing expenses

R-E-=F< A=1H
1 R B B AT RR (D (A7 2 06di))
FRAER R IR 48 (fT 7 v))
BORG - MBRETHAX

(Note (v)) (H&tw)

At 30 June 2024 RZF-EFNA=1HA
Notes:
(i) On 23 August 2022, the Company implemented the share consolidation on

(if)

the basis that every ten issued and unissued then existing shares of par value
HK$0.04 each in the share capital of the Company be consolidated into
one consolidated share of par value HK$0.40 each in the share capital of
the Company. The share consolidation was duly passed by the shareholders
of the Company (the "Shareholders") by way of poll on 19 August 2022.
Further details were set out in the Company's circular dated 29 July 2022
and the Company's announcements dated 8 July 2022 and 19 August 2022
respectively.

On 14 December 2022, the Company entered into a placing agreement with
a placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent has conditionally agreed,
as the placing agent of the Company, to procure on a best effort basis to not
less than six placees to subscribe for up to 14,400,000 ordinary shares with
par value of HK$0.4 each at a price of HK$0.4 each. The aforesaid placing
was completed on 12 January 2023. The new shares rank pari passu with the
existing shares in all respects. Further details were set out in the Company's
announcements dated 14 December 2022 and 12 January 2023.

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited

it -

(i)

(i)

0.04 2,500,000 100,000
- (2,250,000) -
0.4 250,000 100,000
0.01 9,750,000 -
0.01 10,000,000 100,000
0.04 720,000 28,800
- (648,000) -
0.4 14,400 5,760
0.4 86,400 34,560
0.4 43,200 17,280
0.01 = (50,544)
0.01 25,920 259
0.01 155,520 1,555

R-F-—#/\f-+=H LRTEFRHEL

EREBEARARE G REREE0.04E7T.2 B
TTRAZTERE BRI EHALLAREF—RE
REEOA0ETZ AHRG - REAHER-F=-=
FNATAAELRTRE ([RE)) UREZ IS
HIFR A - E—FHIERRARFGAHR=F==
FEAZTNAZBRURERGAHS BT
CCEFANARZEZZENAFNAZ AL

RoFE-—F+-F+AA  FRGJEFEAZET T
KEGZE Bl BEREGRHRENERGEE
REZ G ITERHEEEEFTLRANERENE
FEERR 0.4 BTLiRERS 14,400,000 ;K&K E
BO4ET BB - FHEEER-F-=F—F
TZHZR ° FIEHR BB BRI BB Z
BRIEW - #—FHEARERIAFA=F ==
Ft At HAR - E-=F—H+ A7 R
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26. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

126 -+

On 17 May 2023, the Company announced to issue an aggregate of
43,200,000 ordinary shares (the “Rights Shares”) upon completion of the issue
and allotment of 43,200,000 Rights Shares to the valid applicants pursuant to
the rights issue on the basis of one Rights Share for every two existing ordinary
shares held by the qualifying Shareholders at a subscription price of HK$0.4
per Rights Share (“Rights Issue”). The Rights Issue became unconditional on
17 July 2023 and were completed on 21 July 2023. The gross proceeds from
the Rights Issue were approximately HK$17,280,000 and the net proceeds
were approximately HK$16,280,000 after deducting the related expenses. The
net proceeds of the Rights Issue were fully utilized as intended use to repay
part of the Group’s borrowings. Further details were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 17 May 2023 and 21 July 2023 and Company’s
prospectus dated 30 June 2023. These Right Shares issued rank pari passu with
the existing shares in all respects.

On 20 November 2023, the Company announced that it proposed to
implement a capital reduction involving the reduction of the par value of
each of the issued share of the Company from HK$0.40 to HK$0.01 by
cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$0.39 per issued share so
that following such reduction, each issued new share will have a par value
of HK$0.01. The credit arising from the capital reduction will be applied
towards offsetting the accumulated losses of the Company as at the effective
date of the capital reduction, thereby reducing the accumulated losses of the
Company. Immediately following the capital reduction becoming effective,
each authorized but unissued share of the Company will be sub-divided into
forty (40) unissued new shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each. The above
capital reorganisation referred as the “Capital reduction and subdivision”.

Further, the board lot size for trading in the shares on the Stock Exchange
was proposed to change from 4,000 shares of the Company to 12,000 new
shares of the Company subject to the above Capital reduction and subdivision
becoming effective.

The Capital reduction and subdivision have become effective on 21 February
2024, and the change in board lot size and the dealing in the new shares in the
Stock Exchange has commenced on 21 February 2024.

Please refer to the Company’s circular dated 18 December 2023 and the
Company’s announcement dated 21 February 2024 for details.

On 22 March 2024, the Company entered into a placing agreement with a
placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent has conditionally agreed,
as the placing agent of the Company, to procure on a best effort basis to not
less than six placees to subscribe for up to 25,920,000 ordinary shares with
par value of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.26 each (the “Placing”). The
aforesaid placing was completed on 12 April 2024. The new shares rank pari
passu with the existing shares in all respects. Further details were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 22 March 2024 and 12 April 2024.
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27. RESERVES
The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
each reporting period are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the consolidated financial statements.

28.

The nature and purpose of reserves within equity are as follows:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Share premium

Share premium account of the Group represents the excess of
the proceeds received over the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the investment costs in subsidiaries and the nominal
value of the issued share capital of the Company’s subsidiaries.

Exchange reserve
It comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represented deemed contribution
from a former shareholder arisen from the better terms of loan
from a former shareholder. For details, please refer to Note 24.

Accumulated losses

It represents cumulative net profits or losses recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company have conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) on 22 August, 2016.

A summary of the Scheme is set out as below:

(i)

(if)

The Scheme became effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from the date on the Scheme becomes
unconditional.

Under the Scheme, a subscription price shall be a price
solely determined by the board of directors and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share on the date of grant of the option.
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 28.
(iii)  An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within seven
days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.
(iv)  The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company (excluding, for this purpose,
shares issuable upon exercise of options which have been granted
but which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the Company) must
not in aggregate exceed 10% of all the Company’s shares in issue
as at the listing date or the date of approval of the refreshed limit.

No options have been granted since the adoption of the Scheme.

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29.

(@) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in the consolidated financial statements during the reporting
period, the Group entered into the following significant
transactions with its related parties as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRETE(E)

(iii)

(iv)

RrBERENZENRMELBHERAOAH
(BHEZA) B LANER -

ATERIER 8 LA R A BB AR Rt
R TREMMERREN A FRTNRY
BRLRGIKEME  TERRTRERH
BEREBIRA LR RHEM Lt AR Bl 5
RERBOBREND FHTORD) - 4
HABREARAR L B RREEHRE
BHERBZ 2HMERTRIDA10% -

AR B -
BRARE

(@)

BRREARBEREEMEHAEEORS L
BRI NBREHRE AREERATEE
BHNZEARS :

2024 2023

Design and project consultancy service income
from a related company

H B & ARIEHA

Management fee income from a related company RE—FEE AR ERERA (i) -
1A AT AR 3R S 5t 2 M BB

Interest expense to a former shareholder
Interest expense to a shareholder

EEESIPAIIAFT

The transactions were entered into at terms mutually agreed with
the related parties in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2023, the amount represented
income from design and project consultancy service of approximately
HK$10,000 (2024: HK$nil) from HFL Limited. Mr. Lee Wai Sang (“Mr.
Lee”), being the former director of the Company, is a director of HFL
Limited and Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung Mo Shan Jackie (“Ms. Leung”),
being the former director of the Company have 24.2% beneficial
interests in HFL Limited. Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung ceased to be the
directors of the Company with effect from 13 December 2022.
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. BBARS (&)
(continued)
(@)  (continued) @ (&)
Notes: (continued) it (&)
(i) The amount represented income from management service for Nuovo (i) BECEAXKEBESL (BE) HIRBRL
Grafica (HK) Publications Limited (“Nuovo”) of approximately HK$Nil /37( [H#tt]) 2 ERRHRALTET (=
(2023: HK$184,000). Ms. Leung is a director of Nuovo and Mr. Leung ZF 18400008 T) - RX+AIEELM
Pak Yin (“Mr. Leung”), being the former director of the Company has Z;%t% AL AFIEER AL ([
full beneficial interest in Nuovo. Ms. Leung and Mr. Leung ceased to be L) BEERENZ 2 Em R - RLLR
the directors of the Company with effect from 13 December 2022. RELEA - F-—F+A+=AETHE
FARAEE
(i) The amount represented the interest expenses of approximately HK$Nil (i) FEEFAXE FCCGH(ZARAHFALR
(2023: HK$1,205,000) to CGH, the company owned as to 50% by RL1HEEHE0%8 B ) 2 FIEHZH
each of Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung. Mr. Lee and Ms. Leung ceased to be the FET (ZF==4%:1,20500087) - 2%
directors of the Company with effect from 13 December 2022. GRAZLH-FE-—FLZAFZAET
BEFALLAEE -
(b)  Outstanding balances with related parties: (b) HEEER ROKEREE
Maximum Maximum
balance balance
outstanding outstanding
2024 during the year 2023 during the year
FAREA FRRER
BRAEH ER#H
|
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TR TET TET
Year end balance included in trade st AEKE 5 & Kt
and other receivables REZERER
Nuovo Fi2u - - - 34

Year end balance included in FARRERZ

shareholder’s loan FRER
MK Investment Group Limited MK Investment Group
Limited 30,000 30,000 - -
(0 Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: € AEEFEZEEREAEZHFH:
Details of directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration and EERIZTBAEMEURTARBHM
five highest paid employees are included in Notes 8 and 9, ERZFHEDRIARIBEREM TR -

respectively.
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30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING  30. REZEHfE4 BB HE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Other  Shareholder’s Lease Accrued
borrowings loan liabilities interest
(Note 22) (Note 22) (Note 15) (Note 20)

Hifg & BRER HERE FEETH 2
(Hfat22) (Hit22) (Hit15) (Hit20)
|

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FTET FTET FTET
At 1 July 2023 RZE-_=F+H—H 70,887 - 6,906 1,005
Changes in cash flows: Rens#g:
Proceeds from other HifE B2 g sIE
borrowings 5,000 - - -
Repayment of other EEEMEE
borrowings (26,000) - - -
Proceeds from shareholder's R &2 FT15 50 IE
loan - 30,000 - -
Interest paid ERFE - - - (503)
Repayment of principal BEHERBELREHY
portion of lease liabilities - - (1,154) -
Repayment of interest portion (BEHEEEE 2 F S35
of lease liabilities - - (167) -
Total changes from financing BER &M EHNF R
cash flows: (21,000) 30,000 (1,321) (503)
Other changes: Hib &3
Interest on other borrowings ~ E i f& & &) 7| & 3,563 - - 1,549
Interest on shareholder’s loan IR E R F| B - - - 3,890
Interest on lease liabilities HEBRENFL - - 167 -
Lease modifications BEBK - - 121 -
Early termination of lease AR IETRE - - (4,561) -
Exchange difference P E R - - (10) -
Total other changes: Ht &3 aat 3,563 30,000 (4,283) 5,439
At 30 June 2024 R-Z-WFERA=1+H 53,450 30,000 1,302 5,941
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30. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING  30.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

METBFELARCHRA

Loan from
Other a former Accrued
Bank borrowings  shareholder Lease liabilities interest
borrowings (Note 22) (Note 24) (Note 15) (Note 20)
HibEE FIRREX MEBE JEEFIS
RITEE (His222) (Hizt24) (Hst135) (Hrit20)
]
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FTHT THIT THT FTABT
At 1 July 2022 R-_ZE-__%tH—H 8,000 - 20,723 6,429 134
Changes in cash flows: RERERY:
Repayment of bank borrowings E&#RITfEE (8,000) - = - =
Proceeds from loan from a AR E R TSR
former shareholder - - 57,000 - -
Repayment of loan from a ERARRER
former shareholder - = (3,000) - -
Interest paid ERFIS - - - - (401)
Repayment of principal portion EEMEEEEZ A& HH
of lease liabilities - - - (6,402) -
Repayment of interest portion ~ EREEEE 2 H EFH
of lease liabilities - - - (301) -
Total changes from financing ~ BERERENEHAH
cash flows: (8,000) - 54,000 (6,703) (401)
Other changes: Hin 2% :
Transfer from/(to) #g/(BA) - 69,908 (69,908) - -
Interest on bank borrowings  RITEEFIS - - - - 136
Interest on other borrowings B ftifE EHIFI & - 979 - - 379
Interest on loan from a former ~ EIRREF 2 FI &
shareholder - - 1,774 = 757
Additions of lease liabilities HEAEEM = = = 7,072 -
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENFE = - - 301 =
Deemed contribution froma  R{EFAIRE 1 E
former shareholder = - (6,589) - -
Lease modifications HEBR - - - (140) -
Exchange difference ERER - - - (53) -
Total other changes: HitBgast: - 70,887 (74,723) 7,180 1,272
At 30 June 2023 RZEZ=F,A=+H = 70,887 - 6,906 1,005
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31. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 3. BBRES EeMAERSRARM
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY 2
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments RBESHREBERTAZRAEMNT :

as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Financial assets tHEE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FHT
Financial assets measured at amortised cost BREBERATECEMEE
Financial assets included in trade and other receivables i ABWEZREMTIEZ SRERE 4,156 7,639
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY 16,765 30,996
20,921 38,635
Financial liabilities tHERE
)
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost REERATRzeREE
Financial liabilities included in trade and other payables i ABHBSREMFEZ 2 BEE 20,710 20,251
Other borrowings HibfEE 53,450 70,887
Shareholder’s loan BREER 30,000 =
104,160 91,138
Lease liabilities HEBRE 1,302 6,906
105,462 98,044

32. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3. ¢MIAZAYE

Management has assessed that the fair values of financial assets and EREDTE eMEERSHABECATEEE
financial liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to FREZEHERS  FTERRZETAREHAE
the short term maturities of these instruments. Ho

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at PREERABCATERERE S FRAKE
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current BHE) CRNENRHPETIBNITANSRE
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation N

sale.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprises cash and cash
equivalents, other borrowings and shareholder’s loan. The main purpose
of this financial instrument is to raise fund to finance the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade and other receivables, deposits, contract assets and trade
and other payables, which arise directly from the Group’s operations.

The major risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The
directors of the Company meet periodically to analyse and formulate
measures to manage each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities
to which they relate. The Group currently has no particular hedging
vehicles to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk. It is the Group’s
policy to monitor foreign exchange exposure and to make use of
appropriate hedging measures when required.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of each
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the entity to which they relate. The Group is mainly exposed to the
fluctuation of United States dollars (“USD”) and GBP. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in HKS$, translated
using the spot rate at the end of each reporting period as follows:

SRR

IMR

BEEREEEBERAE

FEEZIZSRMTIABRRSRASEEY H
HEEUERRER - ke T A2 TBANER
RAGERERRES AREEASEEMSE
MEERAE WERKBIRAMHR BE A
%ﬁ@u&%ﬁﬁ%&ﬁ@ﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁgm$%@
EBEL -

ZK%‘%@@IEF‘EZEEH BANERR 58

R %‘JTELM RPELEAR - ANFERTH
i?%ﬂa EADMRHTRRAERREZSAR -

BRERRNT X -

N LB
AEEAEETEREERAB HER B L IFAR
SEER LRS- AKEE AL BN RT
ANEmNERR - AEEMBRAERIMERR
ERERRKBEENEHERE -

TRANAEEESRERNREE R LU
EE&ZW@%EMerTEZEﬁEw?%F%@ MERE,
b ARETEmEET (X7T)) RRAERE - 3

As at 30 June 2024 R=ZZB-MFEXA=1H
Trade and other receivables [EWE 5 K H 5108
Cash and cash equivalents RERRCFED

ERFRR

Overall net exposure

As at 30 June 2023 R=ZZB-=%5xA=+H
Trade and other receivables [EWE 5 K H i 51E
Cash and cash equivalents RERREFEN
Overall net exposure BiFER
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease in
HK$ against the relevant foreign currency 5% (2023: 5%) against GBP,
with all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss before tax would
be HK$8,000 (2023: HK$233,000) increase or decrease against GBP.
In the management opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the relevant years. As USD is pegged to HKS,
the foreign currency risk is considered as minimal.

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from bank balances, trade
receivables, retention receivables, contract assets, and refundable
deposits and other receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group's exposure to credit risk arising from bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high credit-rating assigned by
international credit-rating agencies, for which the Group considers the
credit risk is negligible.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade and retention receivables and contract assets

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit
terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, all trade
and retention receivables, and contract assets are closely monitored on
an ongoing basis to minimise the Group’s exposure to associated credit
risk. Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 51.2% (2023: 27.4%)
and 87.9% (2023: 71.9%) of the total trade and retention receivables
and contract assets was due from the Group's largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk,
the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and retention receivables,
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated for significant balance individually and remaining balance
on a collective basis on the recoverability of trade and retention
receivables and contract assets based on historical loss rates adjusted
with macro-economic factors.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions during
the period over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the
expected lives of the receivables.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Refundable deposits and other receivables

The Group makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of refundable deposits and other
receivables based on historical settlement records and past experience,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. At
the reporting date, the credit risks on refundable deposits and other
receivables have not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL.

The balances of refundable deposits and other receivables as at 30
June 2024 and 2023 were neither past due nor impaired. Financial
assets included in these balances are non-interest bearing and relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default. Based on
past experience and forward-looking information, management is of the
opinion that no provision for loss allowance is necessary in respect of
these receivables as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the credit risk is minimal. Thus, no loss allowance for
refundable deposits and other receivables were recognised.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
following categories:

Internal
credit rating Description

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and
debtors sometimes repay after due dates but
usually settle in full.

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but
usually settle in full

Doubtful There have been significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. MERREEEERBKRGE)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) FERK (&)
Refundable deposits and other receivables (continued) RIS RE M BN (&)
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial TRFMAEERETEEEEFETENERE
assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: EREERRKO :

External Internal

credit rating  credit rating  12m ECL or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

12{8 ATEAEEEBRX
SMBEERIR MEMEERRR 2HRHEEER RHEERE
2024 2023

[
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHIT FHET
Trade receivables N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 1,634 4,648
[ E 5508 T KRR ZHEHEERE CGEHEERE)
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 2,152 -
g ZHRHEERE (FERE)
Retention receivables N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 1,092 1,538
EUIRE S TNE A i ZHEHREEEE CEHEEREA)
Contract assets N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 25,161 -
BREE T i ZHBAEEEE GEHEERE)
Other receivables and
deposits N/A Low risk 12m ECL 1,049 2,991
HipEUGRIE R IES TNEH {ligeay 2@ R BHEEEE
Bank balances Aa2-A3 N/A 12m ECL 16,765 30,996
RITAERR NEFA 2@ R EREEER

SEEMEZEREMRAT CROSSTEC Group Holdings Limited —0— 137



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

r e I RRME

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Refundable deposits and other receivables (continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables, retention receivables and contract
assets under simplified approach other receivables under 12m ECL.

BERREERERIK(E)

EERR (&)
REZE REMEWNE (£)
TRE /TE?ME}%%{UJ‘&&WJHKE%@E% F&“Hﬁl

&LMMIH?E/H\MZ%EETE{EE E’JE’MEH&L

Trade Retention
receivables Trade receivables  Contract assets
under lifetime receivables  under lifetime  under lifetime
ECL (non-  under lifetime ECL (non- ECL (non-
credit ECL (credit credit credit
impaired) impaired) impaired) impaired)
EYE 5 ERES
EOER WE EUREE AHEE -
E R T HES S HES L HRY
FEBR FEBR FEBR FEBR
(FEERE) (EERE) CHEERE) HEERE)
|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TAT TET
As at 1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023 ,z::itﬁ H
—:'— E/\H
=tH = = = =
Changes due to financial instruments RZZZ=F+tA—H
recognised as at 1 July 2023 ERZNERIAS
AR
~ Impairment losses recognised —HERREEE 274 2,152 228 -
Impairment losses recognised for SRENTERMEE
new financial assets originated RAEEE 12 - 83 286
At 30 June 2024 RZB-MERA
=+H 286 2,152 311 286
Interest rate risk A 2=
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to AEEMYUEBTEEMEE BREER(FER

fixed-rate other borrowings, shareholder’s loan (see note 22 for details)
and lease liabilities (see note 15 for details). The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable rate bank balances.
Interest rate risk on bank balances is considered immaterial due to short
maturity. The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management will consider hedging significant interest
risk should the need arise.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. MERREERERER (&)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk RBESER
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring AEEZARALEERDESHIATR ERH
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its BeEnmER HTACZRASRIARER
financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade receivables) and BE(NMEKE ST IE)E’JE'JH\HHM&XE@ 3
projected cash flows from operations. WEHRERE -
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity FEEZERERAREAAMEEUIRRER
of funding and flexibility through the use of other borrowings and i’&%ﬁ%TiFﬁfF’ﬁﬁ;ﬁ|$ZF3E’]$H cREEY
shareholder’s loan. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its BRRTHERARDES BRI HETEERH
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to WIER  NEREASEHR MG RMEME
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity REAAEERRANRHEEER -
requirements in the short and longer term.
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of RESITORERES  T&EeRABERASH
the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, RZEHRERWT :
is as follows:
Total Repayable
Weighted contractual withinone ~ Over Tyear ~ Over 2 year
average Carrying  undiscounted yearoron  butlessthan  but less than
interest rate amount cash flows demand 2 years 5 years
ANAEE AR-FAR —F MK
Mg R = RHE RERELE REEXEE [BRERA BREFR
|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TR TAL TR
At 30 June 2024 RZF-MEAA=1A
Trade and other payables B2 SR EMFE 20,710 20,710 20,710 - -
Lease liabilities &8k 4.9% 1302 1,383 588 683 112
Other borrowings EtifeE 7.7% 53,450 57,075 50,365 - 6,710
Shareholder's loan BRER 15.0% 30,000 35,110 - 35,110 -
105,462 114,278 71,663 35,793 0,822
At 30 June 2023 R-FZ=F7 A=1H
Trade and other payables ERESREMHE 20,251 20,251 20,251 - -
Lease liabilities HEaR 7.1% 6,906 7,554 2,763 2,763 2,028
Other borrowings Eipf g 7.6% 70,887 77,616 27,251 50,365 -
98,044 105,421 50,265 53,128 2,028
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in
light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of
the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure regularly.
The Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital and will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the raising of net debts or the
repayment of the existing debts.

2023/2024% % Annual Report

33.

BERREERERIK(E)

BXER
AEBEAEE T RERARRAEERENE
BREXBUABRBREALE  UXBEERY
SARERABREE

FEBEEEEARBYRECERRLENMAR
RREEZRRBHIFLAER - RRFSABREX
RiE - AREAAEIMNFRRZKE - ARRE
BERSBETHR -BE-_T_MEAA=TAR
TECCFAACTRLER  BEeEEZAR
BRKEFIL ELE -

FEBNEAEBERRS RS EBMWAREAR
AR AREER BREANBRRBENCE

IBA - BERZHER) -

FEREEETHRMEARE - AREQERE
ARARAZBEAERNER - THEBETH
BOAREHFBRREXERAAEY FEHEER
BEARE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

an\ 7f 5‘%#&% ﬁ

34. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 3. BRDBZBMBEMRRE
FINANCIAL POSITION
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at BRRRARBERRHBRARZEHOT -

the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
iz THET FHT
Non-current assets FREEE
Investment in a subsidiary RE—FNBAF 0 D
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR BN B 2 R FRIA - 10,325
- 10,325
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments ERHE 147 283
Amounts due from subsidiaries )= INGIE 4,396 1,455
Cash and cash equivalents RERREFEN - 2,550
4,543 4,288
Current liabilities nEEE
Other payables and accruals Hibfe S kB HUR 6,643 1,128
Amount due to a former shareholder Fgﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁi%klﬁ - —*
Amount due to a subsidiary JERH I B 2 R FRIE 2,348 2,496
Other borrowings HitifE & 48,450 25,474
57,441 29,098
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEFE (52,898) (24,810)
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERRBERE (52,898) (14,485)
Non-current liabilities kRBER
Other borrowings HbfEE 5,000 45,413
Shareholder’s loan BERER 30,000 -
35,000 45,413
NET LIABILITIES BEFE (87,898) (59,898)
Capital and reserves BEARRE
Share capital N 1,555 34,560
Reserves 1 (a) (89,453) (94,458)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY BEARE (87,898) (59,898)
* Represent amount of less than HK$1,000 * FEIERT, 000F T A7 50 H
m Investment in a subsidiary represents unlisted investment, measured at cost. (” RE—EWER KL TRE (BHEEGTE) -
On behalf of the board of directors RERESZE
Mr. Wang Rong Mr. Tse Kwok Hing Henry
FHREE HEEEE
Director Director
EZ EZ
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34. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

34. BROTZHBRAK (E)

(a) A summary of the Company’s reserve is as (@ AAARFREZHENT:
follows:
Share Capital ~ Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
R fn & (B B EXfFEE 23 ER @t
|
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TER TEL FEL
As at | July 2022 R=2=-%+tA-H 62,663 1,580 (106,435) (42,192)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEBBR2EMAZ L
for the year = - (58,855) (58,855)
Deemed contribution from a former R {ERTAR R & (A7i224)
shareholder (Note 24) - 6,589 - 6,589
Asat30june2023and 1July2023 RZ-ZZ=FXA=THK
—E-=£+tA-H 62,663 8,169 (165,290) (94,458)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEEERZER S B
for the year - - (52,019) (52,019)
Capital reduction and subdivision RS AN B RR K  4 = = 50,544 50,544
Issuance of shares, net of issuing BTG  MBBETEY
expenses 6,480 - - 6,480
As at 30 June 2024 RZB-NEAA=TA 69,143 8,169 (166,765) (89,453)
35. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 3. ERFRERS
a)  During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Company implemented Q) HEZ-WEAA=TRIEEE KARF
a capital reduction involving the reduction of par value of each EiRAE - By RETHBREETR
of the par value of each of the issued share of the Company 20398 T2 BRBRAM B ERARR D H
from HK$0.40 to HK$0.01 by cancelling the paid-up capital to 110D 2 EE 0408 TLE R Z0.018 T -
the extent of HK$0.39 per issued share so that following such THIREBREHTROEER.01ET °
reduction, each issued share will have a par value of HK$0.01. ARARHRMES 2 ERBANEEARF
The credit arising from the capital reduction will be applied RIRAEIR AR B H 2 25+ BE - fEMRd
towards offsetting the accumulated losses of the Company as at AREIZ BEHER -
the effective date of the capital reduction, thereby reducing the
accumulated losses of the Company.
b)  During the year ended 30 June 2024, the uses of the Group’s by HE-Z-NFAA=1HILFE £~%E

142 o

investment property have been changed from capital appreciation
and leasing out for rental income to owner-occupation. The
investment property amounting to HK$6,660,000 at the date of
transfer were transferred from investment property to property,
plant and equipment at the date of commencement of owner
occupation.
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36. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has following significant events after reporting period:

37.

(i)

(ii)

The Group has reached a consent with the relevant lender, in
respect of outstanding other borrowings with a total nominal
amount of HK$50,000,000 as at 30 June 2024 and, on 23
September 2024, the lender has agreed to extend the borrowings
of HK$20,000,000 and HK$30,000,000 originally due on 27
October 2024 and 20 November 2024, respectively for 18
months with an annual interest rate being increased from 2% to
15%.

The Group has a total facility line granted by its shareholder of
HK$30,000,000 based on the facility letter dated 8 August 2023.
As at the approval date of these consolidated financial statements,
the Group has drawn down all the loan facility amounted to
HK$30,000,000; and further obtained a HK$10,000,000 facility
line from the shareholder.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2024
were approved for issue by the directors on 30 September 2024.

36.

37.
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BEHRER

BEaMBREEMBOAREN  ARERRSE
HMEEUTERSR:

() AEBCRR-_T-_NE~A=THEE
#4% 550,000,0008 THIAEEEMEER
G INTE T ﬁﬁm_?_mﬁmﬂ
Z+=ZB ERAEREBRADRIRZ
“ME+A-+tBER-E-ME+— H
~ 1+ HFI#£920,000,0007% 7 530,000,000
BLEEERISEA  FAEM%ARE
15% o

iy BEBHA-_Z-_=ZFNA/\BHNBEX
- REBBERER A £30,000,0007
TR B EESE mtﬁﬁ?éﬁﬁﬁe&ﬂt/ﬁa
8 AEEBRIE I E K EE30,000,000
BT ﬁ?&—ﬁwiﬁﬁm,ooo,oooi%ﬁ
REEsE -

REREMBHRR

ékIf?—P—qi/\H +EI¢¢FZ£? Eﬁﬁ#&?‘:{
ERZE-MNFAA=THHEESIETRR -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hEBBRHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is as follows:

GROUP RESULTS

AEERTRAMBFROFENREE  EERAEN
mEMT

LS L ES

Year ended 30 June

BEANA=THLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT T TET FTET
Revenue KA 73,811 48,004 40,006 86,601 53,789
Loss before income tax BRAGHAER (13,044) (53,555) (21,888) (11,777) (28,366)
Income tax (expense)/credit R (AX) /% - (1) - (21) 162
Loss for the year FEER (13,044) (53,556) (21,888) (11,798) (28,204)
Total comprehensive income UTATEGEFERE
for the year attributable to: WA :
Owners/Equity holders of RRAEBEN/
the Company BRFAA (14,349) (54,022) (21,275) (11,824) (28,196)
GROUP ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AEBEEREE
As at 30 June
RAB=+H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TAT FAET FAET T
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 10,310 8,776 8,083 16,733 20,777
Current assets REBE 53,303 50,693 40,389 31,878 34,160
Total assets EEHAR 63,613 59,469 48,472 48,611 54,937
Equity and liabilities BERERE
(Capital deficiency)/Total equity (B Bk /BrEs (44,427) (54,097) (12,424) 7,271 19,095
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 35,764 50,746 21,114 6,101 12,560
Current liabilities MEEE 72,276 62,820 39,782 35,239 23,282
Total liabilities BEAE 108,040 113,566 60,896 41,340 35,842
Total equity and liabilities BRRAERRE 63,613 59,469 48,472 48,611 54,937

Note: The summary of the consolidated results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years are extracted from the published audited financial
statements.
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